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This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes "forwaodking statements” within the meaning of the Pev&éecurities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These forwalooking statements relate to expectations conogrniatters that are not historical facts, and aemngrally
identified by words such as "believe", "expecthtieipate”, "estimate”, "intend", "strategy"”, "may'will likely" and similar words or phrases.
A forwardlooking statement is neither a prediction nor aantee of future events or circumstances, andagtwal results could differ
materially and adversely from those expressed infarward-looking statement. These forward-lookstatements are all based on currently
available market, operating, financial and compeétinformation and assumptions and are subjeeftious risks and uncertainties that are
difficult to predict. Important information regana factors that could cause actual results to diffaterially from such expectations is
disclosed in this Report, including, without lintitan, information under the captionRisk Factors". These risks and uncertainties include, bu
are not limited to risks associated with the lauacid commercial success of our products, prograntstachnologies; the success of product
partnerships; continuing development, qualificataomd volume production of EXPRESSvault™, NVvaulijherClou® and VLP Planar-X
RDIMM; the timing and magnitude of the continuedrdase in sales to our key customer; our abilitjetcerage our NVvault™ technology i
more diverse customer base; our need to raise xdit capital and our ability to obtain financinghe rapidly-changing nature of technology;
risks associated with intellectual property, indlugl patent infringement litigation against us adlves the costs and unpredictability of
litigation over infringement of our intellectual gperty and the possibility of our patents beingxeemined by the USPTO; volatility in the
pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and unaieitty of customer acceptance of, and demand fareristing products and produc
under development, including uncertainty of andfelays in product orders and product qualificatipdslays in our and our customers'
product releases and development; introductionsest¥ products by competitors; changes in-user demand for technology solutions; our
ability to attract and retain skilled personnel; roneliance on suppliers of critical components amhdors in the supply chain; fluctuations in
the market price of critical components; evolvindustry standards; and the political and regulaterywironment in the People's Republic of
China ("PRC"). Except as required by law, we do unudertake any obligation to revise or update amywérd-looking statements for any
reason.

PART |
ltem 1. Business
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-perforce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacesgierer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of dynamic random access ongiintegrated circuits ("DRAM
ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"), appliation-specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") andhet components assembled on
printed circuit boards ("PCBs"). We primarily matrlad sell our products to leading original equiptmeanufacturer ("OEM") customers. C
solutions are targeted at applications where merlarys a key role in meeting system performancairements. We leverage a portfolio of
proprietary technologies and design techniquesydlirg efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques and custom semiconductor
logic, to deliver memory subsystems with high meyibensity, small form factor, high signal integriattractive thermal characteristics and
low cost per bit.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@02&nd commenced operations in September 2000.
Our Products
HyperCloud®

In November 2009, we introduced HyperClouBR3 memory technology. HyperCloud® utilizes anl@$hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthecrease:
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memory capacity and load reduction technology ithaeases memory bandwidth. We expect that theesteal technologies will make
possible improved levels of performance for memiptgnsive datacenter applications and workloadduding enterprise virtualization, cloud
computing infrastructure, business intelligencé-tisae data analytics, and high performance cormgutHyperCloud® memory has been
qualified by two of our OEM customers for use irittserver products. HyperCloud® is interoperabitn WEDEC standard DDR3 memory
modules. Our HyperCloud® products are designeddador installation in servers without the neexd & BIOS change. As such, their
anticipated sales launch is not dependent on thigni@lans or product cycle of our OEM customemwever, we have experienced longer
qualification cycles than anticipated.

In November 2011, we introduced a 32GB tivtisal rank RDIMM integrating HyperCloud® with oproprietary Planar-X technology.
The new memory module enables up to 768GB of DRAMIy in next generation two-processor serverso AKldNovember 2011, we
announced collaborative agreements with each ofiéte®ackard Company ("HP") and International BasgiMachines ("IBM"), pursuant to
which these OEMs have cooperated with us in eftortgualify HyperCloud® memory products for usehnitteir respective products. In
February 2012 and May 2012, we achieved memonyifopadion of HyperCloud®at IBM and HP, respectively. HP and IBM have engbared
continue to engage with us in joint marketing amdHer product development efforts. We and each@fOEMs have committed financial and
other resources toward the collaboration. Howether efforts undertaken with each of these collaiboragreements may not result in
significant product margins for us relative to durestment in developing and marketing these prisduc

NVvault™

Our NVvault™ product line consists primgnif battery-free and battery-powered flash baat@the memory subsystem targeting
Redundant Array of Independent Disks, ("RAID") sige applications. NVvault™ battery-free providesvseand storage OEMs a solution for
enhanced datacenter fault recovery. The NVvault®pets have historically been sold primarily to IDfgr incorporation in its PERC 7 sen
products. Following Intel's launch of its Romlegtibrm in the first quarter of 2012, we have expecid a rapid decline in NVvault™ sales to
Dell. Sales of NVvault™ products to Dell totaleds$ million for the year ended December 29,201#mared to $37.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. We expect that we willicoa to see some demand from Dell through 2018y afhich sales of NVvault™
products for incorporation into PERC 7 servers diminimal. In order to leverage our NVvault™ teclogy into a more diverse customer
base, we continue to pursue additional qualificatiof NVvault™ with other customers. We introdué&PRESSvault™ in March 2011, and
continue to pursue qualifications of next generafddR3 NVvault™ with customers. However, our effomiay not result in significant
revenues from the sale of NVvault™ products.

Specialty Memory Modules and Flash-Based Products

The remainder of our revenue is primaniyni OEM sales of specialty memory modules and flzested products, the majority of which
were utilized in data center and industrial appiae. When developing custom modules for an eqaigtrproduct launch, we engage with our
OEM customers from the earliest stages of new prodiefinition, providing us unique insight into th&ull range of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collabordtmsalso allowed us to develop a significant lefelystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigchigiques, including efficient planar design, altgive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritl high speed, capacity and signal integrity, $fmaim factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues foamspecialty modules and flash-based productswct to fluctuation as a result of the
life cycles of the products into which our modudes incorporated. Our ability to continue to progluevenues from
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specialty memory modules and flash-based prodaatependent on our ability to qualify our produasnew platforms as current platforms
reach the end of their lifecycles, and on the stétbe global economy.

Consistent with the concentrated naturdn@fOEM customer base in our target markets, al smaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionafr net sales. Two customers represented appréedin®0% and 18% of our net sales for the
year ended December 29, 2012 and one customesegpeel approximately 70% of our net sales for #a gnded December 31, 20

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techrgés and design techniques and have assembledyareerning team with expertise in
semiconductors, printed circuit boards, memory gsiiesn and system design. Our technology competenwtude:

IC Design Expertise. We have designed special algorithms that campéemented in stand-alone integrated circuitsitagrated into
other functional blocks in ASICs. We utilize thedgorithms in the HyperCloud® chipset to incorpereank multiplication and load reduction

functionality. We also incorporate these algoritimsur NVvault™ product line of RDIMMS.

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create memorystbms in a form factor of less than one inch iiglie We
believe our proprietary board design technologyaigicularly useful in the blade server market, rehefficient use of motherboard space is
critical. Our technology has allowed us to decréhsesystem board space required for memory, apdowe thermal performance and
operating speeds, by enabling our customers taltesmative methods of component layout.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integriijhvm a PCB.
These techniques include the use of 8- or 10-lagards, matching conductive trace lengths, a mzeéthnumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among othegsh help reduce noise and crosstalk between aljaiaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulistaimponents allow us to assemble memory subsystémsignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with smédletprints for their customers.

Planar-X Designs. Our patented Planar-X circuit design providédittonal board space for a large number of DRAMhponents. This
enables us to produce higher capacity RDIMM modudash as our 32GB two-virtual rank HyperCloud® RIM, at a lower cost by allowing
us to use standard, currently available 4GB DRASht®logy.

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretiofidreat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsysteninduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange oompts to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compsrtieat do not meet specifications. We use thesinalilation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgysiems, which enables our engineers to quickiglde accurate solutions for potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsatteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Vault. We were the first to develop and market mensottysystems that incorporate both DRAM and NAND sgingle NVvault™
persistent DIMM solution for backup of volatile dab non-volatile NAND. NVvault™ is desirable foiigsion critical backups during power
interruption in RAID and main memory for Cloud, Biata, on-line banking and other real time appiicet. NVvault™ is
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incorporated in our EXPRESSvault PCle solutiontfoth acceleration and backup in storage application

Customers

We primarily market and sell our productseading OEMs in the server, storage and commtiaitmmarkets. Consistent with the
concentrated nature of the OEM customer base itanget markets, a small number of large customave historically accounted for a
significant portion of our net sales. Net salesuotwo largest customers, Dell and IBM, represaiaigproximately 60% and 18% of our net
sales in 2012, respectively. Dell represented apprately 70% of our net sales in 2011. Net salesotoe of our OEM customers include
memory modules that are qualified by us directlthwine OEM customer and sold to electronic manufang services providers ("EMSs"), for
incorporation into products manufactured exclusifel the OEM customer or, in some instances, tdifate credit and logistics. These net
sales to EMSs have historically fluctuated perimgériod as a portion of the total net sales tocQBEM customers. Net sales to Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co. Ltd., an EMS operating urtlertrade name of Foxconn that purchases memodyle® from us for incorporation into
products manufactured exclusively for Dell, repraésd approximately 87% and 96% of net sales to el2012 and 2011, respectively. Net
sales to Kingston Technology, an EMS manufactweltBM, represented approximately 62% of net sadd8M for 2012. For further
information regarding our sales to our OEM custobase, please refer to Note 12 of Notes to CoresglitlFinancial Statements included in
Part IV, Item 15 of this Report.

We expect that our key customers or othgyd OEMSs will continue to account for a substdmtiation of our net sales in 2013 and in the
foreseeable future. The composition of major custenand their respective contributions to our atgshave varied and will likely continue to
vary from period to period as our OEMs progreseugh the life cycle of the products they produce sell. For example, we have experien
a significant decline in sales of our NVvault™ sate Dell following its launch of servers incorpting Intel's Romley platform. Our sales are
made primarily pursuant to standard purchase ottiatanay be rescheduled on relatively short notitestomers are generally allowed limited
rights of return for up to 30 days, except for saléexcess inventories, which contain no righteitirn privileges. Estimated returns are
provided for at the time of sale based on histbegaerience or specific identification of an evantessitating a reserve. While these returns
have historically been within our expectations #relprovisions established, we cannot guarantéevidavill continue to experience similar
return rates in the future. Any significant increds product failure rates and the resulting prodeturns could have a material adverse effect
on our operating results for the period or periodshich such returns materialize.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgenerally ranging from one to three years, depgnoh the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Sudtamtés require us to repair or replace defectreglpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatesdforanty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaielacement costs. While such costs have histtribakn within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes irréaihtes could have a material adverse impact preqgairing additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througlirectisales force and a network of independenssalgresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at tbehnical, marketing and executive managementdevithin market-leading
OEMs. Additionally, our marketing strategy for Hy@$oud® includes the creation of demand throughesel evaluation and demonstration
activities in vertical computing markets. Our OENstomers design systems for a
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variety of applications that require a significanmber of high performance memory subsystems, septing substantial opportunities for us.
We have been successful in developing OEM relahissthrough our ability to provide high performamemory subsystems. Our direct s
group and field application engineers work closeith our OEM customers at an early stage of thegigh cycles to solve their design
challenges and to design our products into thestesys.

We believe in the timely communication axt¢hange of information with our customers. Weizdilwell-trained, highly technical
program management teams to successfully drivegneduct development and quickly respond to ourausts' needs and expectations. Our
program management teams provide quick respongs timd act as a single point-of-contact for roussaes during the sales process.
Additionally, they address the long-term busine®s #&chnology goals of our customers. We empl@aatapproach to business developmen
whereby our sales team and independent represagadientify, qualify and prioritize customer prests through offices in a number of
locations worldwide. For additional information egding our net sales from external customers byigghic area, refer to Note 13 of Note:
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rartem 15 of this Report.

Manufacturing

We manufacture substantially all of ourgucts at our facilities in Suzhou in the PRC. CQdwamced engineering and design capabilities,
combined with our in-house manufacturing processésy us to assemble our memory subsystems rgledd in high volume. Our advanced,
customized manufacturing facilities are capableusface mount assembly, subsystem testing, systeet4urn-in testing, programming,
marking, labeling and packaging. At each stagéefaroduction cycle, including product prototypiggalification sample production and
high-volume manufacturing and delivery, we focugpooviding our customers with rapid response armtshanufacturing turn-around times.
Manufacturing cycle times for our products are ¢glly one week or less, and in some cases as féwoadays, from receipt of order.

We acquire components and materials sué&t&§Ss, DRAM ICs and NAND directly from integratettcuit manufacturers and assemble
them into finished subsystems. We believe thatajrmir key strengths is the efficient procuremerdt mmanagement of components for our
subsystems, which benefits our customers in tha fifrlower costs and increased product availabiitye have a limited number of suppliers,
including SK hynix Semiconductor America and Sangs8emiconductor, Inc, each of which have comprisede than 10% of our total
purchases in both of 2012 and 2011. For furthermétion regarding our supplier concentrationgnéd Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, included in Part IV, ItemoiEhis Report. We have developed strong suppéitionships with these and other key
DRAM IC and NAND manufacturers, which we believeeas us direct and ready access to the critical oo@pts that we need for our
production activities. We typically qualify our ghacts with our customers using multiple manufaggiod DRAM ICs and NAND. The
flexibility to choose from several DRAM IC and NANroviders allows us to minimize product cost arakimize product availability. Our
HyperCloud® RDIMM contains an ASIC chipset compan&ie intend to procure these ASICs from multipleegrated circuit vendors.

We schedule production based on purchatgr aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systetnictv allows for internal quality analysis, directass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to mgemanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the ¢l to sell excess quantities of certain compariaventories of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory integrateziiits. However, the ASIC and DRAM components uisedur HyperCloud® product have
limited alternative uses. As such, we may not He &bsell excess quantities of the components,
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should we fail to obtain qualification with majolE®Is. Our sales of excess inventory generated hess1% of our net sales in 2012 and 2011

Our quality assurance engineers work withsuppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. These
engineers also perform onsite supplier factorytauatid use our internal test and inspection systemerify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofebi@tg with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and allomtse elimination of potential problems at thelieat possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afroemory subsystems undergo functional and systemip testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities aithanced imaging technology to inspect the qualfityur assemblies.

We are certified in ISO 9001:2000 Qualitahhgement Systems, 1SO 14001:2004 Environmentahlyiament Standards, and OSHAS
18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Managestems.

Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for sleever, high performance computing and commuminatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMs= Yélce competition from DRAM
suppliers, including SK hynix, Samsung and Micronrhany of our products, including HyperCloud®. Quimary competitors for the rest of
our product lines are mainly memory module provddarch as STEC, SMART Modular Technologies, Ingigatech, and Viking Interworks,
a division of Sanmina-SCI Corporation. We also fpogential direct or indirect competition from legsuppliers such as Inphi and IDT. As we
enter new markets and pursue additional applicationour products, we may face competition frotarger number of competitors that
produce solutions utilizing similar or competingheaologies.

Certain of our competitors have substagtgieater financial, technical, marketing, distiion and other resources, broader product line:
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customerssaugpliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivaipatetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag paoprietary products or technologies that arepmditive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strateglationships with, or acquire, existing high-dépnsnemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand fopmgducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgmnotegrated circuits may be able to
manufacture competitive products at lower costiebgraging internal efficiencies, or could choasegduce our supply of memory integrated
circuits, adversely affecting our ability to manctizZre our memory subsystems on a timely basis,dfla

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend in éapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products onedytand cost-effective basis, and to responchanging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the sétatof high performance memory subsystems by piatiecustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business requiresnen
. timeliness of new value-add product introductions;
. design characteristics and performance;
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. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume delivery;

. credibility with the customer;

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; and
. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. However, our current anad competitors could develop competing
products that could cause a decline in sales srdbsarket acceptance of our products.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatiawevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory subeessful as a leading supplier. We believetiigatontinued and timely development of
new products and improvement of existing produstscatical to maintaining our competitive positiddur team of engineers focuses on
developing custom semiconductor logic devices anduyrcts with innovative thermal solutions, packagselutions and improved electrical
signal integrity that enhances reliability over tifie of the system and achieves higher speeddamers power consumption. Also, our
engineers incorporate various new techniques ardadelogies for testing as well as new processesémufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages withOEM partners and their engineering teams & stages in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understaedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical consdrantr engineers use this information to providelgince and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our OEM partners.myportant aspect of our research and developmemt éffto understand the challenges
faced by our OEM partners and provide cost effecswlutions that satisfy their requirements byizitiy our industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in developwfendr products that allow us to model behavioa aignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compot®in the system. These design tools enable iraaldimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Ir@utput Buffer Information Specification ("IBIS") @iur suppliers' components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitserd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tilgermal simulation tools to identify potentiaétimal problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to develfaipraum thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westraontinue to focus on developing advanced mersmiynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices aregirastted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performanoe eéxample, our HyperCloud® logic devices enable@RAM-based subsystems to
achieve higher speeds and address greater menpaygiteat a lower price point than currently aviaiéaproducts in the market. Logic devices
in our NVvault™ battery-free product enable DRAMigtash memory to be efficiently combined for themoses of backing up data storage.
The development of these semiconductor devicearammportant part of our overall effort to maintairstrong competitive position in our
industry based on advanced memory technology.
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Our customers typically do not separateimpensate us for design and engineering work irsgbia developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for reseand development were approximately $12.8 mmildod $14.9 million for 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our high performance memory subsystemslaveloped in part using our proprietary intelletraperty, and we believe that the strel
of our intellectual property rights will be impontiato the success of our business. We utilize pated trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property arder proprietary information.

As of December 29, 2012, we had 31 U.Sematissued and 23 U.S. and 7 foreign patent agjgits pending. Assuming that they are
properly maintained, our patents will expire atioas dates between 2022 and 2029. Our issued patpdtpatent applications relate to the us
of custom logic in high performance memory subsyste®CB design, layout and packaging techniquesin®@ad to actively pursue the filing
of additional patent applications related to oeht®logy advancements. While we believe that otergaand other intellectual property rights
are important to our success, our technical exgeesnd ability to introduce new products in a timmahnner also will continue to be important
factors in developing and maintaining our compegiposition. Accordingly, we believe that our besig is not materially dependent upon any
one claim in any of our existing patents or pengiatgnt applications.

Despite our precautions, a third party meerse engineer, copy or otherwise obtain anaduseroducts, services or technology without
authorization, develop similar technology indeperiyeor design around any patents issued to ustelten be no assurance that our efforts
taken to prevent misappropriation or infringemenbur intellectual property by third parties haveeh or will be successful.

Employees

At December 29, 2012, we had approximaté&y employees (including 100 regular employeesshetmporary employees).
Approximately 31 of the regular employees were tedan the U.S., and approximately 69 were loc@eather countries (mainly in the PRC).
We had 126 employees in operations, 14 employeessearch and development, 12 employees in satemarketing, and 6 employees
engaged in other administrative functions. We arteparty to any collective bargaining agreementfany of our employees. We have never
experienced a work stoppage, and we believe outoyieg relations are good.

General Information

We maintain a websitewatvw.netlist.confthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an imeettextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form 10-K). ¥e reports with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion ("SEC"), and make available,
free of charge, on or through our website, our ahmeports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on FA0Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
and information statements and amendments to tlepeets filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange |
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as searasonably practicable after we electronicaleyuich material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our website also contains copies of our catpagovernance policy, code of business conducetnids, insider trading policy and
whistleblower policy, as well as copies of the ¢l for our audit committee, compensation commisgied nominating and corporate
governance committee.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider each of the following fact@svell as the other information in this Report irmkiating our business and our
prospects, including our consolidated financialtstaents and related note

We expect a number of factors to cause our opergtiasults to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual &ig, which may make it difficult to
predict our future performance

Our operating results have varied signiftbain the past and will continue to fluctuatefr@uarter-to-quarter or year-to-year in the future
due to a variety of factors, many of which are beour control. Factors relating to our business thay contribute to these quarterly and
annual fluctuations include the following factoas, well as other factors described elsewhere gnahinual report:

. general economic conditions, including the pafisy of a prolonged period of limited economicogrth in the U.S. and Europe;
disruptions to the credit and financial marketthie U.S., Europe and elsewhere;

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlett aichieve customer or market acceptance in dytimanner, including our
HyperCloud® memory module and our flash-based mgmpayducts;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of guroducts with our current customers or to quatifiyrent and future products with
our current or prospective customers in a timelynea or at all;

. the timing of actual or anticipated introducsoof competing products or technologies by us orcompetitors, customers or
suppliers;

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesat&ey customer;

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we oyte;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performameenory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated;

. our customers' failure to pay us on a timely basis;

. costs, inefficiencies and supply risks associatid @utsourcing portions of the design and the rfecture of integrated circuit

. our ability to absorb manufacturing overheaduf revenues decline or vary from our projections;

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailtire to fulfill orders;

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of keyponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NAND;

. dependence on large suppliers who are also competind whose manufacturing priorities may not supgur production
schedules;
. changes in the prices of our products or in thé abthe materials that we use to build our produictcluding fluctuations in the

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our ability to effectively operate our manufaatg facility in the PRC;
. manufacturing inefficiencies associated with skert-up of new manufacturing operations, new petgland initiation of volume
production;
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. our failure to produce products that meet the tpadiquirements of our customers;

. disputes regarding intellectual property rights #alpossibility of our patents being reexaminedigyUSPTO;
. the costs and management attention diversion agedawvith litigation;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. changes in regulatory policies or accounting pples;

. our ability to adequately manage or financerimiégrowth or growth through acquisitions;

. the effect of our investments and financing mgements on our liquidity; and

the other factors described in this "Risk Fagt@ection and elsewhere in this annual report.

Due to the various factors mentioned above, andrstithe results of any prior quarterly or annuslqels should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future operating performanceotre or more future periods, our results of openatimay fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evleetmarket price of our common stock would likelgldee. In addition, the market price of our
common stock may fluctuate or decline regardlessuofoperating performance.

We have historically incurred losses and may comgnto incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 20@®have only experienced one fiscal year (2008) profitable results. In order to regain
profitability, or to achieve and sustain positiask flows from operations in the future, we musthfer reduce operating expenses and/or
increase our revenues. Although we have in thegragdged in a series of cost reduction actionspatidve that we could reduce our current
level of expenses through elimination or reductibstrategic initiatives, such expense reductidoe@may not make us profitable or allow us
to sustain profitability if it is achieved. Our &ty to achieve profitability will depend on increed revenue growth from, among other things,
increased demand for our memory subsystems arntédqtaoduct offerings, as well as our ability tgoamd into new and emerging markets.
may not be successful in achieving the necessagntee growth or the expected expense reductionsedder, we may be unable to sustain
past or expected future expense reductions in gulese periods. We may not achieve profitabilitysostain such profitability, if achieved, ol
quarterly or annual basis in the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutdsult in increased capital requirements and pressu our liquidity position. We believe our
future capital requirements will depend on manydes; including our levels of net sales, the timamgl extent of expenditures to support sales
marketing, research and development activitieseipansion of manufacturing capacity both domelyieamd internationally and the contint
market acceptance of our products. Our capitalirements could result in our having to, or otheeatboosing to, seek additional funding
through public or private equity offerings or déibancings. Such funding may not be available sm$eacceptable to us, or at all, either of
which could result in our inability to meet certaihour financial obligations and other related coitments.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we maged to raise additional funds, which may not be #é&hle on acceptable terms or at all.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvarrg availability under our bank credit faciligroceeds available under the sales agreemen
with Ascendiant and the cash expected to be gertbfadm operations, will be sufficient to meet anmticipated cash needs for at least the nex
12 months. However, we will likely need significatditional capital, which we may seek to raisetlyh, among other things, public and
private equity offerings and debt financings. Qutufe capital requirements
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will depend on many factors, including our levelsiet sales, the timing and extent of expendittmesupport research and development
activities, the expansion of manufacturing capalsdth domestically and internationally and the ocardd market acceptance of our products.
Additional funds may not be available on terms ptaiele to us, or at all. Furthermore, if we issgaity or convertible debt securities to raise
additional funds, our existing stockholders mayegignce dilution, and the new equity or debt se¢isrimay have rights, preferences, and
privileges senior to those of our existing stockleos. If we incur additional debt, it may increase leverage relative to our earnings or to our
equity capitalization.

If adequate working capital is not avaitatblhen needed, we may be required to significantigdify our business model and operations tc
reduce spending to a sustainable level. It coulbeais to be unable to execute our business plam atvantage of future opportunities, or
respond to competitive pressures or customer rexugnts. It may also cause us to delay, scale haelintinate some or all of our research anc
development programs, or to reduce or cease oppsati

Our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedseve incur could adversely affect our cash flowdaprevent us from fulfilling our
financial obligations.

We have incurred debt under our credititgcnd term loans with Silicon Valley Bank. Incing debt could have material consequences
such as:

. requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffowm operations and other capital resources to sktvice, thereby reducing
our ability to fund working capital, capital expétudes, and other cash requirements;

. increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid emdlustry conditions;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our businedsradustry, which may place
at a competitive disadvantage;

. restricting our ability to guarantee certainightions, create or assume liens and pay divideants;

. limiting our ability to incur additional indebteds®on acceptable terms or at all.

As of December 29, 2012, we were in vioiatf one of the financial covenants containedunaredit agreement with Silicon Valley
Bank. We have entered into a forbearance agreemignSilicon Valley Bank, pursuant to which the diem has agreed to forbear from
enforcing its rights against us under the credieament until April 30, 2013 in exchange for, amotiger things, an increase in our interest
to 2.75% above the Prime Rate under the revolviregdf credit, an increase in the borrowing baseme& from one million dollars to two
million dollars and an increase in the interest @ the term loan to 3.25% above the Prime RagaW¥ currently working with Silicon Valle
Bank to obtain a waiver of our non-compliance. & are unable to obtain a waiver, additional foraeee or a modification to the required net
worth levels, the lender could choose to accelgrayenent on all outstanding loan balances and wklidose certain vendor credit should the
letters of credit issued under the credit agreerhenbme unavailable. If that were to occur, we tmaynable to quickly obtain equivalent or
suitable replacement financing. If we were not ablsecure alternative sources of funding, sucklacation would have a material adverse
impact on our financial condition.

Our revenues and results of operations have beebstantially dependent on NVvault™ and we may be bleato replace revenue lost from
the rapid decline in NVvault™ sales.

For the years ended December 29, 2012 aeember 31, 2011, our NVvault™ non-volatile RDIMMed in cache—protection and data
logging applications, including our NVvault™ battdree, the flash-based cache system, accountesllfidrand 66% of total revenues,
respectively. Following
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Intel's launch of its Romley platform in the figgiarter of 2012, we have experienced a rapid dealimfNVvault™ sales to Dell, and we
recognized $15.7 million in NVvault™ sales to Delthe year ended December 29, 2012, as compa®&®i’td million in the year ended
December 31, 2011. We expect that after produttidrsupply chain is consumed, we will see some ddrfram Dell through 2013, after
which sales of NVvault™ products for incorporatioto PERC 7 servers will be minimal. In order tedeage our NVvault™ technology and
diversify our customer base, we continue to puegiditional qualifications of NVvault™ with other ™MS. We also introduced
EXPRESSvault™ in March 2011 and we continue toyeicualification of next generation DDR3 NVvault™twcustomers. Our future
operating results will depend on our ability to aoercialize these NVvault™ product extensions, alé aseother new products such as
HyperCloud® and other high-density and high-perfance solutions. We may not be successful in manggetny new or enhanced products. If
we are not successful in generating sales of gteatucts, the decrease or cessation of sales oNV¥ products to Dell will significantly
reduce our annual revenues and negatively affectesults of operations.

We are subject to risks relating to our focus onveéoping our HyperCloud® product and lack of markdiversification.

We have historically derived a substamg@tion of our net sales from sales of our higlfgrenance memory subsystems for use in the
server market. We expect these memory subsysteomtmue to account for a significant portion of met sales in the near term. Continued
market acceptance of these products for use ireseiv critical to our success.

In an attempt to set our products aparnftbose of our competitors, we have invested afsignt portion of our research and
development budget into the design of ASIC devizeduding the HyperCloud® memory subsystem, intiwetl in November 2009. This
design and the products it is incorporated intosaitgect to increased risks as compared to our ptieglucts. For example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or madesance of the HyperCloud® memory subsystembmratew products, or
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner;

. the HyperCloud® memory subsystem or other new prtsdonay contain currently undiscovered flaws, theertion of which
would result in increased costs and time to market;

. we are dependent on a limited number of suppfiar both the DRAM ICs and the ASIC devices thatessential to the
functionality of the HyperCloud® memory subsystemd could experience supply chain disruption asalt of business issues
that are specific to our suppliers or the indussya whole; and

. we are required to demonstrate the quality andbviiy of the HyperCloud® memory subsystem or othew products to our
customers, and are required to qualify these neduymts with our customers, both of which have negliand will continue to
require a significant investment of time and researprior to the receipt of any revenue from sudtamers.

We experienced a longer qualification cytbien anticipated with our HyperCloud® memory subsgns, and as of December 29, 2012 w
have not generated significant HyperCloud® prodecenues relative to our investment in the prodiue.entered into collaborative
agreements with both IBM and HP pursuant to whitdsé OEMs qualified the 16GB version of HyperClodd®use with their products. The
16GB version of HyperCloud® has been availablertteosince March 6, 2012 and May 14, 2012 for 1BM &P, respectively. We are
working with both OEMs in joint marketing and fuethproduct development efforts. We and each of2B&1s have committed financial and
other resources toward the collaboration. Howether efforts undertaken pursuant to either of tHborative agreements may not result in
new revenues or gross margins for us that arefwignt
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relative to our investment in the products. Failierenaintain qualification of this product with IBMMP or other potential customers could
adversely impact our results of operations.

Additionally, if the demand for serverset@rates or if the demand for our products tortm@iporated in servers declines, our operating
results would be adversely affected, and we woalébbced to diversify our product portfolio and darget markets. We may not be able to
achieve this diversification, and our inabilitydo so may adversely affect our business.

We may lose our competitive position if we are uketo timely and cost-effectively develop new ohanced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptan

Our industry is characterized by intensapetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and t#obital change or new, competitive technologiadadoender our existing products
obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to compete i tluture will depend in large part on our abilityitlentify and develop new or enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effective basis,tanmgéspond to changing customer requirements.dardo develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requiremefitsur current and potential customers;
. identify and adapt to emerging technologicahti®and evolving industry standards in our markets;
. design and introduce cost-effective, innovatine performance-enhancing features that differentiar products from those of

our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential suppliers efiponents required for these new or enhanced pisiduc
. qualify these products for use in our customexipcts; and
. develop and maintain effective marketing strategies

Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseeantges or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreawaee these things are identified, if at all, wd néed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel or retain third party designers, devéiepproduct, identify and eliminate design flawsg ananufacture the product in production
guantities either in-house or through third-pargnufacturers. As a result, we may not be able ¢toessfully develop new or enhanced
products or we may experience delays in the dewatop and introduction of new or enhanced prodi#$ays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or delaygenerating, net sales and the loss of marlatslas well as damage to our reputation. Ever
if we develop new or enhanced products, they mayne®t our customers' requirements or gain madaeg@ance.

Our customers require that our products undergoenfthy and expensive qualification process with@umy assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magig@ificant commitment of resources to test anduata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them ingédrtsystems. This extensive qualification progesslves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuediarmonths or longer and is often subject to delaysddition to qualification of specific
products, some of our customers may also requite uadergo a technology qualification if our protidesigns incorporate innovative
technologies that the customer has not previoustpentered. Such technology qualifications oftdw tsubstantially longer than product
qualifications and can take over a year to compl@telification by a prospective customer doesemsiure any sales to that prospective
customer. Even after successful qualification aaldssof our products to a customer, changes ipmducts, our manufacturing facilities, our
production processes or our component suppliersra@yire a new qualification process, which mayiteéa additional delays.
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In addition, because the qualification gsxis both product-specific and platform-specdia, existing customers sometimes require us
requalify our products, or to qualify our new prath) for use in new platforms or applications. Eeample, as our OEM customers transition
from prior generation DDR2 DRAM architectures taremt generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we mwestigh and qualify new products
for use by those customers. In the past, the psoafedesign and qualification has taken up to siaths to complete, during which time our
sales to those customers declined significantlyer®dur products are qualified, it can take severahths before the customer begins
production and we begin to generate net sales $wach customer.

Likewise, when our memory component vendigsontinue production of components, it may beessary for us to design and qualify
new products for our customers. Such customersrawyire of us or we may decide to purchase an estinquantity of discontinued memory
components necessary to ensure a steady supplystihg products until products with new componerdn be qualified. Purchases of this
nature may affect our liquidity. Additionally, oestimation of quantities required during the tréosimay be incorrect, which could adversely
impact our results of operations through lost rexseopportunities or charges related to excess bhsolete inventory.

We must devote substantial resources, dietudesign, engineering, sales, marketing and gemant efforts, to qualify our products w
prospective customers in anticipation of salesnii@ant delays in the qualification process, sastthose experienced with our HyperCloud®
product, could result in an inability to keep ughwiapid technology change or new, competitive netbgies. If we delay or do not succeed in
qualifying a product with an existing or prospeetisustomer, we will not be able to sell that pradadhat customer, which may result in our
holding excess and obsolete inventory and harnoperating results and business.

Sales to a limited number of customers represesignificant portion of our net sales and the los§ or a significant reduction in sales tc
any one of these customers could materially harnt business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers Haswrically represented a substantial majoritpof net sales. Approximately 60% and 189
our net sales in year ended December 29, 2012 tavéwed of our customers. Approximately 70% of oet sales in the year ended
December 31, 2011 were to one of our customersciifently expect that sales to major OEM customaélfscontinue to represent a
significant percentage of our net sales for thedeeable future. We do not have long-term agreemétit our OEM customers, or with any
other customer. Any one of these customers couddldeat any time to discontinue, decrease or dileiy purchase of our products. In
addition, the prices that these customers paydopooducts could change at any time. The lossgfad our OEM customers, or a significant
reduction in sales to any of them, could signifibareduce our net sales and adversely affect parating results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our sales to our key customers depends on a variggctdrs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' ool sales of servers and other computing systesthéicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of gadpcts into their systems. Because of these draf factors, net sales to these customers
may not continue and the amount of such net satggsnot reach or exceed historical levels in anyriiperiod. Because these customers
account for a substantial portion of our net sdtes failure of any one of these customers to pag imely basis would negatively impact our
cash flow. In addition, while we may not be contuadly obligated to accept returned products, wg determine that it is in our best interes
accept returns in order to maintain good relatioite our customers. As we describe in more detadwhere in this Report, we have
experienced a significant decline in sales of NUW&usales to our primary customer. This reductiosales has had, and is expected to
continue to have, a significant impact on our rexssnand gross profit.
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A limited number of relatively large potential cumhers dominate the markets for our produc

Our target markets are characterized liypideld number of large companies. Consolidationnie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsamntinue to be concentrated among a limitec
number of large customers in the foreseeable futfiebelieve that our financial results will depeéndignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships withj affecting substantial sales to, these potentisiamers. Even if we establish these
relationships, our financial results will be largelependent on these customers' sales and busasests.

If a standardized memory solution which addressks tlemands of our customers is developed, our aktssand market share may declir

Many of our memory subsystems are spedficesigned for our OEM customers' high perforneagstems. In a drive to reduce costs
and assure supply of their memory module demandD&M customers may endeavor to design JEDEC stdidRAM modules into their
new products. Although we also manufacture JEDE@uies, this trend could reduce the demand for alren priced customized memory
solutions which in turn would have a negative impgacour financial results. In addition, customaéeploying custom memory solutions today
may in the future choose to adopt a JEDEC standardithe adoption of a JEDEC standard module idsiéa previously custom module
might allow new competitors to participate in arghaf our customers' memory module business tleatiqusly belonged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEEh&ard modules, our future business may be liniitedentifying the next generation of
high performance memory demands of OEM customeatsiaxeloping solutions that addresses such dembimdis fully implemented, this
next generation of products may constitute a muacaller market, which may reduce our net sales aadket share.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piosi because of the intense competition in our tatgd markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and nesaegnition, a larger base of customers and leagarding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of tbesgetitors are able to devote greater resourcié®tdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we aneflicence customer acceptance of their products oveproducts. These competitors also ma
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdogies or standards and may be able to deliverymtsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetcompetitors. We also expect to face
competition from new and emerging companies that emder our existing or future markets. These pa@koompetitors may have similar or
alternative products which may be less costly ovjgle additional features.

In addition to the competition we face fr@RAM and logic suppliers such as SK hynix, SamsWtigron, Inphi and IDT, some of our
OEM customers have their own internal design grabhpsmay develop solutions that compete with olinese design groups have some
advantages over us, including direct access to tegpective companies' technical information @wthhology roadmaps. Our OEM customers
also have substantially greater resources, finhaoiotherwise, than we do, and may have lowetrstosctures than ours. As a result, they
may be able to design and manufacture competitiwdycts more efficiently or inexpensively. If anfytbese OEM customers are successful ir
competing against us, our sales could declinepmargins could be negatively impacted and we coaage market share, any or all of which
could harm our business and results of operatiemsher, some
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of our significant suppliers are also competitonany of whom have the ability to manufacture contipetproducts at lower costs as a resu
their higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriove the performance of their current productsuce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater pagoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocimar exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would deterierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.

Our operating results may be adversely impacteddayldwide economic and political uncertainties amspecific conditions in the markets \
address, including the cyclical nature of and valay in the memory market and semiconductor induogt

Adverse changes in domestic and global @mdnand political conditions have made it extreyraifficult for our customers, our vendors
and us to accurately forecast and plan future legsiactivities, and they have caused and couldncento cause U.S. and foreign businesses
slow spending on our products and services, whichldvfurther delay and lengthen sales cycles. titach, sales of our products are
dependent upon demand in the computing, networkiogymunications, printer, storage and industrialkeis. These markets have been
cyclical and are characterized by wide fluctuationgroduct supply and demand. These markets hgwerienced significant downturns, often
connected with, or in anticipation of, maturing gwet cycles, reductions in technology spendingdexdines in general economic conditions.
These downturns have been characterized by dingdiphoduct demand, production overcapacity, higknitory levels and the erosion of
average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-taepdituctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demaindany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our ptsd\s a result, our sales will likely decline ithgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfixdg, if we are unable to control our expensegjadeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbaldegatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our costos may face issues gaining timely access tocgefti credit, which could result in an
impairment of their ability to make timely paymentdsus. If that were to occur, we may be requiethtrease our allowance for doubtful
accounts and our days sales outstanding would detimely impacted. Furthermore, our vendors may fimilar issues gaining access to
credit, which may limit their ability to supply cqranents or provide trade credit to us. We cannadipt the timing, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovagidwide, or in the memory market and related semiluctor industry. If the econor
or markets in which we operate do not continuertprove or if conditions worsen, our business, faiaincondition and results of operations
will likely be materially and adversely affecteddditionally, the combination of our lengthy salgsle coupled with challenging
macroeconomic conditions could compound the negaitipact on the results of our operations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled ordes;, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoer demand, makes it difficult to forecast
our short-term production requirements to meet thdémand, and any failure to optimally calibrate oproduction capacity and inventory
levels to meet customer demand could adverselycafier revenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regardingléwvels of business that we will seek and accepdyrction schedules, component procuremer
commitments, personnel needs and other resourogeatents, based on our estimates of customerrexgants. We do not have long-term
purchase
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agreements with our customers. Instead, our custaften place purchase orders no more than twasvieeadvance of their desired delivery
date, and these purchase orders generally havameltation or rescheduling penalty provisions. $hert-term nature of commitments by
many of our customers, the fact that our custommeng cancel or defer purchase orders for any rea@swhthe possibility of unexpected char
in demand for our customers' products each reducatility to accurately estimate future custoneguirements for our products. This fact,
combined with the quick turn-around times that ggpleach order, makes it difficult to forecast puwduction needs and allocate production
capacity efficiently. We attempt to forecast thendad for the DRAM ICs, NAND, and other componergeaed to manufacture our products.
Lead times for components vary significantly angetel on various factors, such as the specific sepahd the demand and supply for a
component at a given time.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofwstomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Assallt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglon a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovéreste customer demand, we may have excess rawiald@eentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the [@icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventoryilkfall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or NAND invemig which may result in a significant decreasetin gross margin and financial
condition. Also, to the extent that we manufactur@ducts in anticipation of future demand that doetsmaterialize, or in the event a customel
cancels or reduces outstanding orders, we couldreqre an unanticipated increase in our finishmmtlg inventory. In the past, we have ha
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, exceastifies and declines in market value below outsdsny significant shortfall of customer
orders in relation to our expectations could hurt@perating results, cash flows and financial dtorl

Also, any rapid increases in productiorures by our customers could strain our resouroésraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient invgrdd DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture egloproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capat any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will leadelays in the delivery of our products, andoeald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.

Declines in our average sales prices, driven byatité prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other faars, may result in declines in ot
revenues and gross profit.

Our industry is competitive and historigdilas been characterized by declines in averags pake, based in part on the market price of
DRAM ICs and NAND, which have historically constid a substantial portion of the total cost of m@mory subsystems. Our average sales
prices may decline due to several factors, inclgdivercapacity in the worldwide supply of DRAM aNAND memory components as a result
of worldwide economic conditions, increased manuiidacg efficiencies, implementation of new manutaitg processes and expansion of
manufacturing capacity by component suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are netgatjave are generally unable to revise pricing whitt customer until our next regularly
scheduled price adjustment. Consequently, we gresexi to the risks associated with the volatilityhe price of DRAM ICs and NAND
during that period. If the market prices for DRARIS and NAND increase, we generally cannot paspribe increases on to our customers fo
products purchased under an existing purchase.okdex result, our cost of sales could increasecamajross margins could decrease.
Alternatively, if there are declines in the pridddiRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to reduce ourisglprices for subsequent purchase
orders, which may result in a decline in our expdatet sales.
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In addition, since a large percentage ofsales are to a small number of customers thatrarerily distributors and large OEMSs, these
customers have exerted, and we expect they witirnos to exert, pressure on us to make price ceimmes If not offset by increases in volu
of sales or the sales of newly-developed produits igher margins, decreases in average salesgwould likely have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results.

We use a small number of custom ASIC, DRAM IC andND suppliers and are subject to risks of disruptiin the supply of custom ASIC
DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders orqauce qualification samples is dependent on acserfit supply of DRAM ICs and NAND, which
are essential components of our memory subsyst®tasre also dependent on a sufficient supply diocanASIC devices to produce our
HyperCloud® memory modules. There are a relatigeiall number of suppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, amd purchase from only a
subset of these suppliers. We have no long-term MRANAND supply contracts. Additionally, we coulaice obstacles in moving production
of our ASIC components away from our current desigd production partners. Our dependence on a siaber of suppliers and the lack of
any guaranteed sources of ASIC components, DRAMNAIND supply expose us to several risks, includimg inability to obtain an adequate
supply of these important components, price in@gadelivery delays and poor quality.

Historical declines in customer demand amdrevenues caused us to reduce our purchaséRAKDCs and NAND. Such fluctuations
could occur in the future. Should we not maintaiffisient purchase levels with some suppliers, ahility to obtain supplies of raw materials
may be impaired due to the practice of some supplceallocate their products to customers withiggest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsI&AND have required some suppliers to limit thppy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM ¢€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI@ NAND to meet our customers' requirements gfestomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslandilich would cause our net sales to decline ardnfour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ableftace any lost business with new customers, anthayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the ASIC componebRRAM ICs and NAND of our suppliers for use in theyrstems. If one of our suppliers
should experience quality control problems, it rbaydisqualified by one or more of our customerss Would disrupt our supplies of ASIC
components, DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce the nunebsuppliers available to us, and may require Weagualify a new supplier. If our
suppliers are unable to produce qualification sasph a timely basis or at all, we could experiatalays in the qualification process, which
could have a significant impact on our ability &l $hat product.

If the supply of other component materials usedn@nufacture our products is interrupted, or if ounventory becomes obsolete, our rest
of operations and financial condition could be adeely affected.

We use consumables and other componentading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsyst¥essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourcemk® advantage of volume pricing discounts. Maktshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt the manufacture of our productsrfitime to time in the future. These delays in mantifring could adversely affect our results
of operations.

Frequent technology changes and the inttimlu of next-generation products also may resuthe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichld@aduce our
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gross margin and adversely affect our operatinfppmance and financial condition. We may not bexdblsell some products developed for
one customer to another customer because our proaecoften designed to address specific customgeirements, and even if we are able to
sell these products to another customer, our mangisuch products may be reduced.

A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facilit could have a material adverse effect on our bwesn, financial condition and results «
operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in tRRC for producing most of our products, whichabaus to utilize our materials and proces
protect our intellectual property and develop #ehhology for manufacturing. A prolonged disrupt@rmaterial malfunction of, interruption
in or the loss of operations at our manufacturenglity, or the failure to maintain a sufficienblar force at such facility, would limit our
capacity to meet customer demand and delay newpragvelopment until a replacement facility andipment, if necessary, were found.
replacement of the manufacturing facility couldgan extended amount of time before manufactuniggations could restart. The potential
delays and costs resulting from these steps caud b material adverse effect on our businessydimhcondition and results of operations.

If we are unable to manufacture our products effetly, our operating results could suffe

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatis&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, to lower our costs and toretise remain competitive. As we manufacture momaglex products, the risk of
encountering delays or difficulties increases. $tat-up costs associated with implementing newufaturing technologies, methods and
processes, including the purchase of new equipraadtany resulting manufacturing delays and inigfficies, could negatively impact our
results of operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityeapansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyagelor unexpected costs resulting from this auditgss could adversely affect our net sales
and results of operations. In addition, we canmotdrtain that we will be able to increase our nf@cturing capacity on a timely basis or meet
the standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufagwustom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, SUCASIKCs, that are used in some of our products sadty@erCloud® are designed and
manufactured by third parties. The ability and wghess of such third parties to perform in accocgawith their agreements with us is largely
outside of our control. If one or more of our desay manufacturing partners fails to perform itfigdtions in a timely manner or at satisfact
quality levels, our ability to bring products to rket or deliver products to our customers, as aglbur reputation, could suffer. In the event of
any such failures, we may have no readily availalikrnative source of supply for such productsesiin our experience, the lead time nee
to establish a relationship with a new design anavanufacturing partner is at least 12 months,thadkstimated time for our OEM customers
to re-qualify our product with components from avneendor ranges from four to nine months. We caasstire you that we can redesign, or
cause to have redesigned, our customized compottebésmanufactured by a new manufacturer in alyimi@nner, nor can we assure you-
we will not infringe on the intellectual propert§ @ur current design or manufacture partner whemeglesign the custom components, or ci
such components to be redesigned by a new mantgactumanufacturing disruption experienced by manufacturing partners, the failure of
our manufacturing partners to dedicate adequatairess to the production of our products, the fai@rinstability of our manufacturing or
design partners, or any other failure of our desigmanufacturing partners to perform accordinth&r agreements with us, would have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.
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We have many other risks due to our depseelen third-party manufacturers, including: readlicentrol over delivery schedules, quality,
manufacturing yields and cost; the potential lat&dequate capacity during periods of excess dentamited warranties on products supplied
to us; and potential misappropriation of our irgellal property. We are dependent on our manuiagtpartners to manufacture products with
acceptable quality and manufacturing yields, tovéelthose products to us on a timely basis arallé@ate a portion of their manufacturing
capacity sufficient to meet our needs. Although aducts are designed using the process desigs ofithe particular manufacturers, we
cannot assure you that our manufacturing partnérdevable to achieve or maintain acceptable Welddeliver sufficient quantities of
components on a timely basis or at an acceptalsie &dditionally, we cannot assure you that our ufacturing partners will continue to
devote adequate resources to produce our productmtinue to advance the process design techredagi which the qualification and
manufacturing of our products are based.

If our products do not meet the quality standardsaur customers, we may be forced to stop shipmerfifgroducts until the quality issue
are resolved.

Our customers require our products to et quality standards. Should our products neetisuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtegolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmaes and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defeetsystems, we may be subject to warranty, prodecalls or product liability claims

If our products are defectively manufactijreontain defective components or are used inctigéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to warranty and product liability claimsigroduct recalls, safety alerts or advisory natiédhile we have product liability insurance
coverage, it may not be adequate to satisfy claiade against us. We also may be unable to obtsimance in the future at satisfactory rates
or in adequate amounts. Warranty and product itgitalaims or product recalls, regardless of thdfimate outcome, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andutefion, and on our ability to attract and retaistomers. In addition, we may determine th
is in our best interest to accept product retunngricumstances where we are not contractuallygalbdid to do so in order to maintain good
relations with our customers. Accepting productimes may negatively impact our operating results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourustomers or our competitors might gain access to proprietary designs, processes a
technologies, which could adversely affect our oating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protattitrade secret laws and restrictions on discéosuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdagg our proprietary processes and technologsg.ribt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Tatel, we have had eighteen patents issued. We itder@htinue filing patent applications w
respect to most of the new processes and techesltigiit we develop. However, patent protection nudype available for some of these
processes or technologies.
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It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aimeention of, our existing intellectual propertyhtg;

. prevent our competitors from independently develgimilar products, duplicating our products asigaing around any
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and khow to third parties or into the public domain;

. result in valid patents, including internatiopaltents, from any of our pending or future appidss; or
. otherwise adequately protect our intellectualpgrty rights.

Others may attempt to reverse engineery ocoptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetdgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takeprevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigountries, such as the PRC, where we have establsimanufacturing facility and where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights to shene extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patapplications are not allowed, or if any of our Iigetual property protections are limited in scope
by a court or circumvented by others, we could faceesased competition with regard to our productsreased competition could significar
harm our business and our operating results.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bediwed in costly legal and administrative proceedingp defend against claims that we
infringe the intellectual property rights of othersr to enforce or protect our intellectual propertights.

As is common to the semiconductor industry ,have experienced substantial litigation regaygiatent and other intellectual property
rights. Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights have been angl mahe future be brought against us, anc
are currently defending against claims of invajidit the USPTO. See Note 9 of Notes to Condensets@wlated Financial Statements, for a
description of our legal contingencies.

The process of obtaining and protecting@migtis inherently uncertain. In addition to théep&issuance process established by law and t
procedures of the USPTO, we must comply with JERE®inistrative procedures in protecting our inttl@l property within its industry
standard setting process. These procedures evedrdime, are subject to variability in their amgaliion, and may be inconsistent with each
other. Failure to comply with JEDEC's administratjwocedures could jeopardize our ability to cléuat our patents have been infringed.

By making use of new technologies and émjenew markets there is an increased likelihoad tithers might allege that our products
infringe on their intellectual property rights. igation is inherently uncertain, and an adverseanue in existing or any future litigation could
subject us to significant liability for damagesimvalidate our proprietary rights. An adverse outeocalso could force us to take specific
actions, including causing us to:

. cease manufacturing and/or selling products, argusértain processes, that are claimed to be gifripa third party's
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be thmes actual damages), including royalties o pagiture sales;
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. seek a license from the third party intellectuaarty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed to bagifrg a third party's intellectual property.

If any adverse ruling in any such mattesuws, any resulting limitations in our ability taanket our products, or delays and costs
associated with redesigning our products or paysehlicense fees to third parties, or any failbyeus to develop or license a substitute
technology on commercially reasonable terms coalceha material adverse effect on our businessydinbcondition and results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced tachl personnel that we can draw upon to meet minghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during thefeeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work hisesi In the past, some of these competitors havwa@ththat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionamn-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existieigployees or make such claims in the future tegureus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thereo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.

We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaad former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property, contractual and commerdigits including, in particular, our trade secretswell as to challenge the validity and scope
of the proprietary rights of others. We could beemubject to counterclaims or countersuits agaisists a result of this litigation. Moreover,
any legal disputes with customers could cause tioerease buying or using our products or delay fh@ichase of our products and could
substantially damage our relationship with them.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, digar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wencarmssure you that current or future infringena@aiims by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will rmg asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

We may become involved in non-patent related litiga and administrative proceedings that may matdly adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involvedarious legal proceedings relating to matterglgttal to the ordinary course of our
business, including commercial, product liabiligynployment, class action, whistleblower and othiggation and claims, and governmental
other regulatory investigations and proceedingshSnatters can be time-consuming, divert managésnatt¢ntion and resources and cause L
to incur significant expenses. Furthermore, bectitigation is inherently unpredictable, the resuldf these actions could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of ope&iaaod financial condition.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thjpdrty intellectual property and we fail to do sajrobusiness could be harme

Although some of the components used infioat products contain the intellectual properfythird parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any righitd kcenses to such third party intellectual propehile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asgou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of
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our business and our ability to compete succegsfi@ipends significantly on our continued operatighout claims of infringement or
demands resulting from such claims, including desflsgor payments of money in the form of, for exampingoing licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter markets. Similar to our current products, we maag components in these new products tha
contain the intellectual property of third parti#ghile we plan to exercise precautions to avoidnging on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, we cannot assure you that disputkset arise.

If it is determined that we are requiresbbtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainres, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opega#sults and financial condition could be sigrifidy harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving acgimpetitive, and we may not have rights to manutaetand sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we me required to pay a royalty to sell productsliathg these formats

The flash-based storage market is congtantiergoing rapid technological change and evglumlustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memoryntas, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufacturénddgh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@iirivis may choose to adopt these higher-volume, kmwest formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otmedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFl&lan8 embedded USB drives. If we
decide to manufacture flash memory products utigizmerging formats such as those mentioned, wd&ilequired to secure licenses to give
us the right to manufacture such products that nzdyoe available at reasonable rates or at allelfire not able to supply flash card formats a
competitive prices or if we were to have produdrshges, our net sales could be adversely impaatdaur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.

Our indemnification obligations for the infringemenby our products of the intellectual property riggof others could require us to pay
substantial damage:

As is common in the industry, we curreritywe in effect a number of agreements in which axeelagreed to defend, indemnify and hold
harmless our customers and suppliers from damagksasts which may arise from the infringement by groducts of third-party patents,
trademarks or other proprietary rights. The scdpgioh indemnity varies, but may, in some instapcesude indemnification for damages anc
expenses, including attorneys' fees. Our insurdoes not cover intellectual property infringemérite term of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual any time aftecition of the agreement. The maximum potentialuarhof future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agesgsis unlimited. We may periodically have to msphto claims and litigate these types of
indemnification obligations. Although our suppliensy bear responsibility for the intellectual pragenherent in the components they sell to
us, they may lack the financial ability to standhipel such indemnities. Additionally, it may be dpdb enforce any indemnifications that they
have granted to us. Accordingly, any indemnificatitaims by customers could require us to incunificant legal fees and could potentially
result in the payment of substantial damages, dbttrhich could result in a material adverse effatiour business and results of operations.
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We depend on a few key employees, and if we loseséivices of any of those employees or are unéblare additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependenherxperience, relationships and technical knovdexfgcertain key employees. We believe
that our future success will be dependent on ollityato retain the services of these key employekevelop their successors, reduce our
reliance on them, and properly manage the tramsitfaheir roles should departures occur. The tdthese key employees could delay the
development and introduction of, and negativelyactmur ability to sell, our products and otherwisem our business. We do not have
employment agreements with any of these key emplwgther than Chun K. Hong, our President, Chiefchtive Officer and Chairman of the
Board. We maintain "Key Man" life insurance on CHurHong; however, we do not carry "Key Man" lifesurance on any of our other key
employees.

Our future success also depends on outyatailattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, and other technica
and sales personnel. Competition for experiencesbpeel is intense. We may not be successful iaaibg new engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagireers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets, ability to continue to provide our current goucts and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttim our business. In addition, the shortage of e&peed engineers, and other factors, ma
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corapgon costs for such engineers, which may excaeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineersdiffior may increase our operating expenses.

Historically, a significant portion of oworkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higb\ar rates in our contract employee workforceicivimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convery af these contract employees into permanent eyapky we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.

We rely on third-party manufacturers' representatis and the failure of these manufacturers' represatives to perform as expected could
reduce our future sales.

We sell some of our products to customeisugh manufacturers' representatives. We are enalgredict the extent to which our
manufacturers' representatives will be successfolarketing and selling our products. Moreover, ynafnour manufacturers' representatives
also market and sell other, potentially competimgdpcts. Our representatives may terminate th&itiomships with us at any time. Our future
performance will also depend, in part, on our aptlb attract additional manufacturers' represérgatthat will be able to market and support
our products effectively, especially in marketsvimich we have not previously distributed our pradutf we cannot retain our current
manufacturers' representatives or recruit additioneeplacement manufacturers' representativessalas and operating results will be harn

The operation of our manufacturing facility in théRC could expose us to significant risks.

Since 2009, substantially all of our wowiie manufacturing production has been performeaxlamanufacturing facility in the People's
Republic of China, or PRC. Language and culturii¢dinces, as well as the geographic distance &onheadquarters in Irvine, California,
further compound the difficulties of running a méaaiuring operation in the PRC. Our managementitraed experience in creating or
overseeing foreign operations, and this new fgaitiny divert substantial amounts of their time. kVay not be able to maintain control over
product quality, delivery schedules, manufactusiieids and costs. Furthermore, the costs relatéadving excess
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capacity have in the past and may in the futurdicoa to have an adverse impact on our gross nmeggid operating results.

We manage a local workforce that may suhjedo regulatory uncertainties. Changes in theréaws of the PRC could increase the cost
of employing the local workforce. The increasedustdialization of the PRC, as well as general eatin@nd political conditions in the PRC,
could also increase the price of local labor. Hitifethese factors could negatively impact the sasings we currently enjoy from having our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.

The PRC currently provides for favorabbe tates for certain foreignwned enterprises operating in specified locatinrtke PRC throuc
2012. We have established our PRC facility in sutlixfavored location. Should we fail to achieve prdiitily while favorable tax rates are
effect, or before our loss carryforwards in the R&@ire, it is possible that we would not realilze tax benefits to the extent originally
anticipated and this could adversely impact ouratigg results.

Economic, political and other risks associated wititernational sales and operations could adversaffect our net sales

Part of our growth strategy involves mak#ades to foreign corporations and delivering aodpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. To facilitate this process and to meetlong-term projected demand for our productshasge set up a manufacturing facility in the
PRC. Selling and manufacturing in foreign countsebjects us to additional risks not present withaomestic operations. We are operatin
business and regulatory environments in which wee tiaited previous experience. We will need totomre to overcome language and
cultural barriers to effectively conduct our oparas in these environments. In addition, the ecaeeraf the PRC and other countries have
been highly volatile in the past, resulting in sigant fluctuations in local currencies and othestabilities. These instabilities affect a number
of our customers and suppliers in addition to @ueijn operations and continue to exist or may pagain in the future.

In the future, some of our net sales magdiominated in Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"). The Ckingovernment controls the procedures
by which RMB is converted into other currencies] aonversion of RMB generally requires governmemtsent. As a result, RMB may not be
freely convertible into other currencies at allésn|f the Chinese government institutes changearirency conversion procedures, or imposes
restrictions on currency conversion, those actioag negatively impact our operations and could cecaur operating results. In addition,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between RMB ar@l Wollars may adversely affect our expenses esuts of operations as well as the valu
of our assets and liabilities. These fluctuatiorzs/ralso adversely affect the comparability of oeniqd-toperiod results. If we decide to decl
dividends and repatriate funds from our Chineseaifmns, we will be required to comply with the pedures and regulations of applicable
Chinese law. Any changes to these procedures gmutbt®ons, or our failure to comply with those pedares and regulations, could prevent us
from making dividends and repatriating funds froan €hinese operations, which could adversely affectfinancial condition. If we are able
to make dividends and repatriate funds from oun€$e operations, these dividends would be sulyjddtS. corporate income tax.

International turmoil and the threat ofufii terrorist attacks, both domestically and ireéiomally, have contributed to an uncertain
political and economic climate, both in the U.Sd gtobally, and have negatively impacted the woitthweconomy. The occurrence of one or
more of these instabilities could adversely afteat foreign operations and some of our customessippliers, each of which could adversely
affect our net sales. In addition, our failure teghapplicable regulatory requirements or overcoufieiral barriers could result in production
delays and increased turn-around times, which wadidrsely affect our business.
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Our international sales are subject to rotis&s, including regulatory risks, tariffs andhet trade barriers, timing and availability of expo
licenses, political and economic instability, difflties in accounts receivable collections, diffii@s in managing distributors, lack of a
significant local sales presence, difficulties btaining governmental approvals, compliance withide variety of complex foreign laws and
treaties and potentially adverse tax consequeircasldition, the U.S. or foreign countries may igmpknt quotas, duties, taxes or other charge
or restrictions upon the importation or exportatadrour products, leading to a reduction in sales arofitability in that country.

Our operations could be disrupted by power outagestural disasters or other factors.

Due to the geographic concentration ofraanufacturing operations and the operations ohuedf our suppliers, a disruption resulting
from equipment failure, power failures, quality trhissues, human error, government interventionatural disasters, including earthquakes
and floods like those that have struck Japan araddrid, respectively, could interrupt or interfarith our manufacturing operations and
consequently harm our business, financial condiot results of operations. Such disruptions waealgse significant delays in shipments of
our products and adversely affect our operatingligs

Our failure to comply with environmental laws anaggulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs

We are subject to various and frequenthngfing U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theasid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafiinated sites and the maintenance of a safe Vemdpln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handlelispose of hazardous materials from time to tifoe.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdnltiee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required folymts entering the European Union. We could isalstantial costs, including clean-up
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personairinjas a result of violations of, or
noncompliance with, environmental laws and regaleti These laws and regulations also could regsite incur significant costs to remain in
compliance.

Our internal controls over financial reporting manot be effective, which could have a significantéadverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act df28nd the rules and regulations of the SEC, whieltollectively refer to as Section 404,
require us to evaluate our internal controls oumarfcial reporting to allow management to reporttmse internal controls as of the end of ¢
year. Effective internal controls are necessaryfoto produce reliable financial reports and amedrtant in our effort to prevent financ
fraud. In the course of our Section 404 evaluatisresmay identify conditions that may result inrsfgcant deficiencies or material weaknesse:
and we may conclude that enhancements, modificatiolchanges to our internal controls are necegsatgsirable. Implementing any such
matters would divert the attention of our managermauld involve significant costs, and may negainimpact our results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maimtain effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materiakakmesses in our internal controls, we may be unabpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a logeestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.
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If we do not effectively manage future growth, otgsources, systems and controls may be strained@amndresults of operations may suffe

We have in the past expanded our operatlmth domestically and internationally. Any futupe@wth may strain our resources,
management information and telecommunication systamd operational and financial controls. To marfature growth effectively,
including the expansion of volume in our manufactyifacility in the PRC, we must be able to impraral expand our systems and controls.
We may not be able to do this in a timely or cdfative manner, and our current systems and ctntnay not be adequate to support our
future operations. In addition, our officers hagatively limited experience in managing a rapigipwing business or a public company. As a
result, they may not be able to provide the guidamecessary to manage future growth or maintaimdunarket position. Any failure to
manage our growth or improve or expand our exissygiems and controls, or unexpected difficultiedding so, could harm our business.

If we acquire other businesses or technologieslie future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bosss and harm our operating resul
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquiresinesses or technologies that might complementwuent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaing other businesses or technologies. Acquoisgtientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resaottiding, but not limited to:

difficulties in integrating the operations, tectogies or products of the acquired companies;

. the diversion of management's time and attentiomfthe normal daily operations of the business;

. insufficient increases in net sales to offset insezl expenses associated with acquisitions orrachodmpanies;

. difficulties in retaining business relationshipgtwsuppliers and customers of the acquired companie

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayelaealizing those synergies;

. entering markets in which we have no or limitedarignce and in which competitors have stronger etgs&sitions; and
. the potential loss of key employees of the acqui@dpanies.

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitissaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownersheépcpntages of our existing stockholders. Furthegmacquisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substamirekction, deferred compensation charges, in-gooesearch and development charges, tl
amortization of amounts related to deferred stoageld compensation expense and identifiable purdhatngible assets or impairment of
goodwill, any or all of which could negatively afteour results of operations.

The issuance of additional sales of our common #toar the perception that such issuances may ocdncjuding through our "at the
market" offering, could cause the market price ofiocommon stock to fall.

We have entered into a Sales AgreementAsttendiant Capital Markets, LLC ("Ascendiant"); tbe offer and sale of up to $10 million
in aggregate amount of our shares from time to timeugh Ascendiant, as our sales agent, pursoaart effective Registration Statement on
Form S-3. Ascendiant is not required to sell amsc#fit number or dollar amount of shares of our nwn stock but will use its reasonable
efforts, as our agent and subject to the termbeBSales Agreement, to sell

27




Table of Contents

that number of shares up to $10 million upon oguest. Sales of the shares, if any, may be madapyneans permitted by law and deemed
to be an "at the market" offering as defined indR45 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendediyalh generally be made by means of
brokers' transactions on the NASDAQ Global Markebtherwise at market prices prevailing at the twfisale, or as otherwise agreed with
Ascendiant.

As of December 29, 2012, we have sold amexgate of 2,010,139 shares pursuant to the Bgieement at a weighted average sales
price of $2.98, net of commissions, including 1,868 shares in year ended December 29, 2012 aighted average sales price of $2.98 per
share. We may terminate the Sales Agreement airamyor it will terminate once proceeds of $10 roill have been raised. Whether we ch
to affect future sales under the at-the-market ranogwill depend upon a variety of factors, incligliamong others, market conditions and the
trading price of our common stock relative to otbeurces of capital. The issuance from time to tifiithese new shares of common stock
through our at-the-market program or in any otlugrity offering, or the perception that such salesymccur, could have the effect of
depressing the market price of our common stock.

Our principal stockholders have significant votingower and may take actions that may not be in tlestointerest of our other stockholders.

As of March 25, 2013 approximately 20.1%wof outstanding common stock was held by affiiatecluding 19.9% held by Chun K.
Hong, our chief executive officer and chairman of board of directors. As a result, Mr. Hong hasdbility to exert substantial influence over
all matters requiring approval by our stockholdarsluding the election and removal of directorsl any proposed merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets atiter corporate transactions. This concentratioroatrol could be disadvantageous to other
stockholders with interests different from thoseMsf Hong and our other executive officers and ctives. For example, our executive officers,
directors and principal stockholders could delapmvent an acquisition or merger even if the @matien would benefit other stockholders. In
addition, this significant concentration of shavenership may adversely affect the trading pricediar common stock because investors may
perceive disadvantages in owning stock in compamigsstockholders that have the ability to exez@gnificant control.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftrol and could also limit the
market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylasentain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders miginisider favorable. In addition, these provisioogld limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our cowmstock. The following are examples of provisiagch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors is authorized, without psteckholder approval, to designate and issue pegfestock, commonly
referred to as "blank check" preferred stock, widints senior to those of our common stock;

. stockholder action by written consent is protadj

. nominations for election to our board of directansl the submission of matters to be acted upomdokisolders at a meeting &
subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorized &ke alter or repeal our bylaws.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpdratv, which may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevisions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and
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of Delaware law, could make it more difficult fapnskholders or potential acquirers to obtain cdrtfaur board of directors or initiate actions
that are opposed by the then-current board of @irecincluding delaying or impeding a merger, maffer, or proxy contest or other change
of control transaction involving our company. Anglal or prevention of a change of control transactir changes in our board of directors
could prevent the consummation of a transactiomhiith our stockholders could receive a substaptiamium over the then-current market
price for their shares.

The price of and volume in trading of our commonosk has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly tradedesNovember 2006. The price of our common stouktae trading volume of our shares
volatile and have in the past fluctuated signifibariThere can be no assurance as to the prioghiah our common stock will trade in the
future or that an active trading market in our camnmstock will be sustained in the future. The mak&e at which our common stock trades
may be influenced by many factors, including butlimited to, the following:

. our operating and financial performance and peots, including our ability to achieve and sustainfitability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry inclitwe operate;

. the availability and level of research coverafjand market making in our common stock;

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recemaiations by analysts;

. sales of our newly issued common stock or atkeurities in association with our $40 million effee shelf registration on

Form S-3, or the perception that such sales mayrocc
. general financial and other market conditions; and

. changing and recently volatile domestic and intéomal economic conditions.

In addition, shares of our common stock #redpublic stock markets in general, have expedgénand may continue to experience,
extreme price and trading volume volatility. Thélsetuations may adversely affect the market pateur common stock and a shareholders
ability to sell their shares into the market atdesired time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the marketqeriof our common stock, securities litigation waitiated against us. Given the historic volati
of our industry, we may become engaged in this tfgitigation in the future. Securities litigatios expensive and time-consuming.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located pmagmately 28,700 square feet of space in Irvidaljfornia, under a lease that expires in July
2013. We also currently lease approximately 42 stifare feet of space for our manufacturing facititthe PRC. This lease expires in March
2017. In addition, we lease approximately 4,500asegfieet of space for a design office in San J8aéfornia, under a lease that expires in |
2014.

We believe that our current facilities adequate for our current and expected operatiarthdéonext twelve months and that additional
space can be obtained if needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionithed Litigation and Patent Reexaminations undete\d of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included in Part 1V, Iltem 15 of thip&e is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NASD®Blobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"avember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices farammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended December 29, 201

Fourth Quarte $ 132 $ 0.6F

Third Quartel 2.32 1.2C

Second Quarte 3.5 2.0¢

First Quarte 4.24 2.41
Year Ended December 31, 2011

Fourth Quarte $ 3.9¢ $ 1.04

Third Quartel 2.1C 1.0¢

Second Quarte 2.81 2.0C

First Quarte 3.04 2.0¢

As of March 25, 2013, there were approxetyaB7 holders of record of our common shares.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividem our capital stock. Our current credit fagifitohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or paytcash dividends on our capital stock in the feeable future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddafctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapens, earnings, capital requirements, lega
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsragkrelevant by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholderwipngsly approved our Amended and Restated 2000t indentive Plan and our Amended and
Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. Except asdist the table below, as of December 29, 201]eveot have any equity based plans,
including individual
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compensation arrangements that have not been aaphyvour stockholders. The following table progide&formation as of December 29,
2012 with respect to our equity compensation plans:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

@ (b) (c)
Equity compensation plat
approved by security
holders 4,743,555 $ 3.22 820,63(1)
Equity compensation plat
not approved by securi
holders 8,75((2)% 1.92 —

Total 4,752,30. $ 3.2z 820,63

Q) Subject to certain adjustments, on DecembgeR@92, we currently are able to issue a maximui 405,566 shares of
common stock pursuant to awards granted under maniled and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plarnt. Mmaaimum
number will automatically increase on the first ddiyeach calendar year by the lesser of (i) 5.0%h@fumber of shares
of common stock that are issued and outstandirrg #hee first day of the calendar year, and (i)aDD00 shares of
common stock, subject to adjustment for certaipamte actions.

(2) Consists of:

0] 8,750 options to purchase shares of our commoik s$eued to our former Controller and Director afdncial
Reporting in connection with her hiring in April 20. These options expired on February 28, 2103.

See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Repft
additional information on equity compensation pl¢

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relate@sincluded elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

This report contains forward-looking statementsamting future events and our future performanceesehforward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could caustakresults to differ materially from those exptor projected. These risks and uncertair
include, but are not limited to risks associatethvihe launch and commercial success of our prajybgrams and technologies; the succes
of product partnerships; continuing developmenglidication and volume production of EXPRESSvaulNVyault™, HyperCloud® and VLP
Planar-X RDIMM,; the timing and magnitude of the contingledrease in sales to our key customer; our altititeverage our NVvault™
technology in a more diverse customer base; oud neeaise additional capital and our ability to t&in financing when necessary; the
rapidly-changing nature of technology; risks assted with intellectual property, including patenfringement litigation against us as well as
the costs and unpredictability of litigation ovafingement of our intellectual property and thespibility of our patents being reexamined by
the USPTO; volatility in the pricing of DRAM ICs&NAND; changes in and uncertainty of customer ptaogce of, and demand for, our
existing products and products under developmantuding uncertainty of and/or delays in productiers and product qualifications; delays
in our and our customers' product releases and ldgveent; introductions of new products by compsetitchanges in end-user demand for
technology solutions; our ability to attract andaé skilled personnel; our reliance on suppliefsdtical components and vendors in the
supply chain; fluctuations in the market price dfical components; evolving industry
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standards; and the political and regulatory envino@nt in the PRC. Other risks and uncertaintiesa@scribed under the heading "Risk
Factors" in Part I, Item IA of this Annual Report orm 1(-K. Except as required by law, we undertake nogattion to revise or update
publicly any forwarelooking statements for any reason.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-perforce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacesgierer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of DRAM ICs, NAND, ASICs aather components assemb
on PCBs. We primarily market and sell our productieading OEM customers. Our solutions are tadyatepplications where memory plays
a key role in meeting system performance requirésnéile leverage a portfolio of proprietary techigids and design techniques, including
efficient planar design, alternative packaging téghes and custom semiconductor logic, to delivemmory subsystems with high memory
density, small form factor, high signal integri@ttractive thermal characteristics and low costlger

In November 2009, we introduced HyperCloudBR3 memory technology. HyperCloud® utilizes anl@®hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthrcreases memory capacity and load reductiomi@olgy that increases memory bandwi
We expect that these patented technologies willenpadssible improved levels of performance for mgniatensive datacenter applications
workloads, including enterprise virtualization, etbcomputing infrastructure, business intelligeresd-time data analytics, and high
performance computing. In November 2011, we intoadithe world's first 32GB two-virtual rank RDIMMdorporating HyperCloud®
technology. The new memory modules enable up t&B58f DRAM memory in next generation two-processervers.

Also in November 2011, we announced collatiee agreements with each of Hewlett-Packard Gomg"HP") and International
Business Machines ("IBM"), pursuant to which th€eMs have cooperated with us in efforts to quatfyperCloud® memory products for
use with their respective products. In February2&id May 2012, we achieved memory qualificatiomgperCloud® at IBM and HP,
respectively. HP and IBM have engaged and contiowmgage with us in joint marketing and furthesdarct development efforts. We and €
of the OEMs have committed financial and other ueses toward the collaboration. However, the effortdertaken under either of the
collaborative agreements may not result in sigaiftocevenues and product margins for us relati@itdanvestment in developing and
marketing this product.

In February 2010, we announced the gerewlability of the NVvault™ battery free. The NMua™ product line consists primarily of
battery-free and battery-powered cache memory stdsytargeting RAID storage applications. NVvaulbBttery-free provides server and
storage OEMs a solution for enhanced datacent#rréazovery. The NVvault™ products have historigdleen sold primarily to Dell, most
recently for incorporation in its PERC 7 serverdqarats. Following Intel's launch of its Romley péath in the first quarter of 2012, we have
experienced a rapid decline in NVvault™ sales tt.[3ales of NVvault™ products to Dell totaled $aBnillion and $37.7 million for the yee
ended December 29, 2012 and December 31, 201 katasyly. We expect to see demand from Dell throR@h3, after which sales of
NVvault™ products for incorporation into PERC 7w&s will be minimal. In order to leverage our NVt technology into a more diver
customer base, we continue to pursue additiondifigasions of NVvault™ with other customers. Wesalintroduced EXPRESSvault™ in
March 2011, and continue to pursue qualificatiohsext generation DDR3 NVvault™ with customers. Hwar, our efforts may not result in
significant revenues from the sale of NVvault™ prois.
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The remainder of our revenues arose priynicam OEM sales of specialty memory modules dadH-based products, the majority of
which were utilized in data center and industriglecations. When developing custom modules foegnipment product launch, we engage
with our OEM customers from the earliest stagesent product definition, providing us unique insightb their full range of system
architecture and performance requirements. Thigeabmllaboration has also allowed us to develdgraficant level of systems expertise. We
leverage a portfolio of proprietary technologied aesign techniques, including efficient planarigiesalternative packaging techniques and
custom semiconductor logic, to deliver memory ssbawys with high speed, capacity and signal intggsihall form factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues foamspecialty modules and flash-based productswyct to fluctuation as a result of the
life cycles of the products into which our moduées incorporated. Our ability to continue to progluevenues from specialty memory module:
and flash-based products is dependent on ounatuliqualify our products on new platforms as corggdatforms reach the end of their
lifecycles, and on the state of the global economy.

Consistent with the concentrated naturdn@fOEM customer base in our target markets, al smaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionafr net sales. Two customers represented appréedyr@0% and 18% of our net sales in 2012
and one customer represented approximately 70%rafiet sales in 2011.

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of operations tfeimaportant to management's assessment of
our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of outhhigrformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioastimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-teaies agreements with our customers.
Although OEM customers typically provide us withndoinding forecasts of future product demand ovectjpgoeriods of time, they genera
place orders with us approximately two weeks inaabe of scheduled delivery. Selling prices areciy negotiated monthly, based on
competitive market conditions and the current pat®BRAM ICs and NAND. Purchase orders generallyehao cancellation or rescheduling
penalty provisions. We often ship our productsuo @stomers' international manufacturing sitesoAbur sales to date, however, are
denominated in U.S. dollars. We also sell excesgpoment inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND to distrilous and other users of memory ICs.
As compared to previous years, component invergalys remain a relatively small percentage of alessas a result of our efforts to diversify
both our customer and product line bases. Thigliigation effort has also allowed us to use congrds in a wider range of memory
subsystems. We expect that component inventorg salkecontinue to represent a minimal portion af met sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of matgriabnufacturing costs, depreciation and amortimaif equipment,
inventory valuation provisions, stock-based compé&aos, and occupancy costs and other allocated fixsts. The DRAM ICs and NAND
incorporated into our products constitute a sigaifit portion of our cost of sales, and thus out gbsales will fluctuate based on the current
price of DRAM ICs and NAND. We attempt to pass thgh such DRAM IC and NAND flash memory cost fludtaas to our customers by
frequently renegotiating pricing prior to the plaeent of their purchase orders. However, the salesof our memory subsystems can also
fluctuate due to competitive situations unrelatethe pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND, which affectsogs margins. The gross margin on our
sales of excess component DRAM IC and NAND inventsrmuch lower than the gross margin on our saf@sir memory subsystems. As a
result, fluctuations in DRAM IC and NAND inventosgles as a percentage of our overall sales coylddanour overall gross margin. We
assess the valuation of our inventories on a quaittasis and record a provision to cost of sateseressary to reduce inventories to the lowe
of cost or net realizable value.
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Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsripyimiaemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based compmsnon-recurring engineering fees, computeegidesign software licenses, reference
design development costs, patent filing and prairdegal fees, depreciation or rental of evaluagguipment, and occupancy and other
allocated overhead costs. Also included in reseanchdevelopment expense are the costs of madadabverhead related to the production of
engineering samples of new products under developorgroducts used solely in the research andldpreent process. Our customers
typically do not separately compensate us for deaigl engineering work involved in developing aggtiion-specific products for them. All
research and development costs are expensed aethcWe anticipate that research and developmearalitures will increase in future
periods as we seek to expand new product oppaddsenicrease our activities related to new andrgimg markets and continue to develop
additional proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisbprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentreglessentative commissions, professional servpresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other aldcaterhead costs. A significant portion of oulisgleffort is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatprzocess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products matwifad for qualification is included in selling eqses. As we continue to service existing
and establish new customers, we anticipate thasales and marketing expenses will increase.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting priefogenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affeceftted amounts of assets and liabilities and aisces of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdisthe reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tharent degree of uncertainty. We base our estintateur historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what cootdur in the future considering available inforibat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thesgneates, which may result in material adversectdfen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoingt policies involve our more significant assumpti@and estimates used in the preparation
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with thargial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accaumt
Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingve recognize revenues when there is persuasience that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdles price is fixed or determinable, and collgtitglof the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured.

We generally use customer purchase ordetloacontracts as evidence of an arrangementv@gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaoeipe for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents aad tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assoeidgttethe transaction and whether the sales prisalgect to refund. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess componeahtories, which contain no right-of-return
privileges. Estimated returns are provided fohattime of sale based on historical experiencgecific identification of an event necessitat
a reserve. We offer a standard product warranbutacustomers and have no other post-shipmentathdigs. We assess collectibility based on
the
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creditworthiness of the customer as determinedréglicchecks and evaluations, as well as the custsrpayment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as net salbe all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, aceqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumdrgdair value of our cash equivalents and
investments in marketable securities is determbeesid on quoted prices in active markets for idehéissets or Level 1 inputs. We recognize
transfers between Levels 1 through 3 of the fauevhierarchy at the beginning of the reportingqukrWe believe that the carrying values of
all other financial instruments approximate theirrent fair values due to their nature and respedurations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.We perform credit evaluations of our customfnsincial condition and limit the amount of credit
extended to our customers as deemed necessaggemerally require no collateral. We evaluate théectbility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In cases where wearare of circumstances that may impair a specifsgtamer's ability to meet its financial
obligations subsequent to the original sale, wénedord an allowance against amounts due, anellgereduce the net recognized receivab
the amount that we reasonably believe will be ctdld. For all other customers, we record allowaraedoubtful accounts based primarily on
the length of time the receivables are past duedan the terms of the originating transaction,dingent business environment and our
historical experience. Uncollectible accounts drarged against the allowance for doubtful accowtisn all cost effective commercial means
of collection have been exhausted. Generally, cegitlosses have been within our expectationstla@gbrovisions established. However, we
cannot guarantee that we will continue to expegesredit loss rates similar to those we have egpeéd in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conegett among a small number of customers, and disi@mi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have aniahbdverse effect on the collectability of oacaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of thieuatcost to purchase or manufacture the inveraothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averag basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Ahdmdance sheet date, we evaluate ending inveqtamgtities on hand and record a provi:
for excess quantities and obsolescence. Among tdbtars, we consider historical demand and fotedademand in relation to the inventory
on hand, competitiveness of product offerings, radonditions and product life cycles when detemgrobsolescence and net realizable
value. In addition, we consider changes in the etarklue of DRAM ICs and NAND in determining thet nealizable value of our raw matel
inventory. Once established, any write downs aresiciered permanent adjustments to the cost basisrafxcess or obsolete inventories.

A significant decrease in demand for owdpicts could result in an increase in the amouekoéss inventory quantities on hand. In
addition, our estimates of future product demang prave to be inaccurate, in which case we may haderstated or overstated the provisior
required for excess and obsolete inventory. Irfuhégre, if our inventories are determined to bergakied, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales at the tfreaich determination. Likewise, if our inventarizre determined to be undervalued, we may
have over-reported our costs of sales in previes®g@s and would be required to recognize additignass profit at the time such inventories
are sold. In addition, should the market value BfAM ICs or NAND decrease significantly, we may lequired to lower our selling prices to
reflect the lower current cost of our raw
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materials. If such price decreases reduce thesaétable value of our inventories to less thanamst, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales in the saened. Although we make every reasonable eftodrtsure the accuracy of our forecasts of
future product demand, any significant unanticigatkeanges in demand, technological developmeritseeamarket value of DRAM ICs or
NAND could have a material effect on the value of mventories and our reported operating res

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsWe evaluate the recoverability of the carrywadue of long-lived assets held and used in our
operations for impairment on at least an annuakhlmswvhenever events or changes in circumstameksate that their carrying value may not
be recoverable. When such factors and circumstamgésts we compare the projected undiscounted éutat cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their estimateful lives against their respective carryimpant. These projected future cash flows may
vary significantly over time as a result of incredgompetition, changes in technology, fluctuatimndemand, consolidation of our customers
and reductions in average selling prices. If theyiiag value is determined not to be recoverabbenffuture operating cash flows, the asset is
deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recodriéhe extent the carrying value exceeds theneséid fair value of the asset. The fair
value of the asset or asset group is based on imaake when available, or when unavailable, oealisited expected cash flows.

Warranty Reserve. We offer product warranties generally rangiranf one to three years, depending on the produthagotiated tern
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctantés require us to repair or replace defectreglpct returned to us during the warranty
period at no cost to the customer. Warranties at@ffiered on sales of excess inventory. Our esém#or warranty-related costs are recorded
at the time of sale based on historical and eséichhtture product return rates and expected repagplacement costs. While such costs have
historically been consistent between periods andimvbur expectations and the provisions estabiishaexpected changes in failure rates
could have a material adverse impact on us, reguadditional warranty reserves, and adverselyctfig our gross profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to non-empkyraccordance with ASC Topic 505. All transacsiam
which goods or services are the consideration veddior the issuance of equity instruments are auinl for based on the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of theiggastrument issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measurement date used to
determine the fair value of the equity instrumesstied is the earlier of the date on which the tpady performance is complete or the date or
which it is probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogad director stock-based compensation expensenmzeohduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expeictegst, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeiturebtestimated at the time of grant and revisedgéessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estedeaverage forfeiture rates are based on histdddaiture experience and estimated future
forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveatm employees and directors is calculated usiaddthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expettime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdated dividends, all of which affect the estindafier values of our common stock option
awards. The expected term of options granted @utated as the average of the weighted vestinggeand the contractual expiration date of
the option. This calculation is based on the safe
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harbor method permitted by the SEC in instancegevtiee vesting and exercise terms of options gdamteet certain conditions and where
limited historical exercise data is available. Bx@ected volatility is based on the historical tititg of our common stock. The risk-free rate
selected to value any particular grant is basethetd.S. Treasury rate that corresponds to theategeerm of the grant effective as of the dat
of the grant. The expected dividends assumptitwased on our history and our expectations regaudiirigend payouts. We evaluate the
assumptions used to value our common stock opti@rds on a quarterly basis. If factors change ameémploy different assumptions, stock-
based compensation expense may differ significdraly what we have recorded in prior periods. Conspdion expense for common stock
option awards with graded vesting schedules isgreized on a straight-line basis over the requisgt®ice period for the last separately vesting
portion of the award, provided that the accumulatest recognized as of any date at least equalsale of the vested portion of the award.

We recognize the fair value of restricteatk awards issued to employees and outside diseawstock-based compensation expense on
straight-line basis over the vesting period forltet separately vesting portion of the awards: ¥alue is determined as the difference betwee
the closing price of our common stock on the gdaté and the purchase price of the restricted steekd, if any, reduced by expected
forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancéias of the underlying vested or unvested stocleth@svards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stookdba@mpensation expense, or record additional esepfem vested stock-based awards.
Future stock-based compensation expense and udestowk- based compensation may increase to tleatekat we grant additional common
stock options or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recoaphto reflect the estimated future tax effectitfre deductible or taxable
amounts attributable to events that have been nimeg on a cumulative basis in the consolidatearfomal statements, calculated at enacted te
rates for expected periods of realization. We ragdylreview our deferred tax assets for recoveitgtaind establish a valuation allowance, w
determined necessary, based on historical taxabtarie, projected future taxable income, and theeeg timing of the reversals of existing
temporary differences. Because we have operatedbat for an extended period of time, we did robgnize deferred tax assets related to
losses incurred in 2012 or 2011. In the futureyefrealize a deferred tax asset that currentlyieser valuation allowance, we may record an
income tax benefit or a reduction to income taxemge in the period of such realization.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghodd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-rétiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgiton. Under ASC Topic 740 we may only recognizeantinue to recognize tax positions
that meet a "more likely than not" threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulatiesubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigment and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afjekan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, évelution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our estiesatvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseegiously recorded tax liabilities.

New Accounting Pronouncementsin June 2011, the FASB issued new guidancéemptesentation of comprehensive income. The ne
guidance eliminates the option to present companaidther comprehensive income as part of thersi@nt of changes in stockholders' equity
and requires an entity to present either one coatia statement of net income and other comprehemsiome or two separate, but consect
statements. The guidance relates only to presentathe Company adopted this guidance in thedinstrter of the year ended December 29,
2012. In February 2013, the
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FASB issued new guidance on reporting reclassifinatout of accumulated other comprehensive incdris. new guidance will be effective
for the Company for the first quarter of the fisgalr ended December 28, 2013. Other than requadigional disclosures, the Company doe:
not expect this new guidance to impact the Comgagnsolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatigd statements of operations as a percentage séles for the years indicated:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 75 67
Gross profi 25 33
Operating expense
Research and developme 35 25
Selling, general and administrati 27 18
Total operating expens 62 42
Operating los! (37) 9
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (0] —
Other expense, n — —
Total other expense, n (D] —
Loss before income tax bene (38) (9
Income tax benef — —
Net loss (38)% (9%

Year Ended December 29, 2012 Compared to the Yewteld December 31, 2011
Net Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit.

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the years endecebder 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31 %
2012 2011 Change Change
Net sales $ 3687: $ 6072¢ $ (23,856 (39)%
Cost of sale: 27,471 40,46¢ (12,99 (32)%
Gross profit $ 9,39¢ $ 20,26 $ (10,867 (54)%
Gross margir 25.5% 33.4% (7.9%

Net Sales. The decrease in net sales for 2012 as compatie®011 resulted primarily from decreases of agpnately (i) $21.5 millior
in sales of NVvault™ non-volatile cache systemgluseRAID controller subsystems (ii) $5.6 milliof gpecialty memory module sales
primarily used in industrial applications as custosnslowed production as a result of its produeting the end of its life and (iii) $2.9 million
in flash product sales offset by an increase of $fillion in sales resulting
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from existing and new customer qualifications ofpldyCloud®, VLP, NVvault™ and ExpressVault producek.

Approximately 83% of our NVvault™ sales wanade to Dell in 2012. Following Intel's launchitsfRomley platform in the first quarter
of 2012, we have experienced a rapid decline in RDRvault™ sales to Dell. We expect that we wilks®me demand from Dell through
2013, after which sales of DDR2 NVvault™ produdsificorporation into PERC 7 servers will be mininfanis reduction in sales is expected
to continue to have a significant impact on ouerawe and gross profit. We expect an increasingepésge of our revenue to come from sales
of DDR2 NVvault and ExpressVault to a more diverastomer base, as well as from sales of our Hyped® products.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. The decrease in gross profits for 2012 as coep 2011 is primarily the result of the change i
product mix as the decline in NVvault™ sales tolbelan to accelerate in the second quarter of 284 2oted previously, we expect the
decline in sales of NVvault™ to Dell to continuehave a significant impact on our revenue and goosfit.

Research and Development.

The following table presents research ancetbpment expenses for the years ended Decemp2029 and December 31, 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011 Change % Change
Research and developme 12,84 $ 14,92: $ (2,079 ()

The decrease in research and developmeenseg for 2012 as compared to 2011 resulted ptinfesim decreases of (i) $0.6 million in
professional and outside services (ii) $1.7 milliorinternal engineering headcount costs and releterhead and travel expenses, and
(iii) $0.6 million in non-recurring engineering digas for supply partners engaged in new productldpment activities partially offset by an
increase of $0.8 million in material expenses egldab product builds and testing.

Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, gath@and administrative expenses for the years eBaéegmber 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011
(in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31 %
2012 2011 Change Change
Selling, general and
administrative $ 10,07t $ 10,70t $ (630 (6)%

Selling, general and administrative expsrgerreased by approximately $0.6 million in 208 2@mpared to 2011. We incurred decrease
of approximately $0.9 million in headcount costsmnmissions and related overhead and travel expewbésh were offset by an increase of
$0.3 million in advertising and product evaluatexpenses, primarily due to product qualificaticfoes.
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Other Expense, Net

The following table presents other expensefor the years ended December 29, 2012 andniee31, 2011 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31 %
2012 2011 Change Change
Interest expense, n $ (33¢) $ (228) $ (110 48%
Other expense, n (139 (56) (78) 13%%
Total other expense, n $ (472 $ (2849 $ (18¢) 66%

The increase in interest expense for 2@h2pared with 2011 was the result of new term |dhasoriginated in May 2011 and May 2012.

The decrease in expense, net, for 201&mpared to 2011 was primarily the result of aizedlloss in 2012 of $85,000 from the sale of
an auction rate security that was purchased in 20@8a realized loss in 2011 of $59,000 from the ghan auction rate security that was
purchased in 2008 and a loss on disposal of am msdenger in use for $52,000 in 2012.

Income Tax Benefit.

The following table presents the benefitifcome taxes for the years ended December 22 @0d December 31, 2011 (in thousands,
except percentages):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31 %
2012 2011 Change Change
Income tax benef $ 12) $ B3 $ 4 (77)%

The federal statutory rate was 35% for 284@ 2011. In both 2012 and 2011, we continuedduige a full valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets, which consist prigmafihet operating loss carry-forwards. In 2012 a0d1, our effective tax rate differed from
the 35% statutory rate primarily due to the valmatllowance on newly generated loss carry-forwdrds further discussion see Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Rartem 15 of this Report.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefiecember 31, 2011 was approximately $22,000popbsitions that, if recognized, would
affect our annual effective tax rate. We reducedusuwecognized tax benefits by approximately $2@,80d $55,000 during 2012 and 2011
respectively, as a result of a lapse in a fedéatiie of limitations, resulting in an income taeqkefit.

In 2008, we began operating under tax hgkdn the PRC, which are effective from Janua§&rough December 2012. Since we
operated at a loss in the PRC in 2012 and 201Hidveot realize any benefit attributable to the hakdays.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operagignimarily through issuances of equity and debtisges and cash generated from operations
We have also funded our operations with a revolimg of credit and term loans under our bank d¢radiility and capitalized lease obligatio
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Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Matable Securities.

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments iketadole securities (in thousands):

December 29 December 31

2012 2011
Working capital $ 11,11¢ $ 17,77¢
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,755 $ 10,53¢
Investments in marketable securit 41F 444

$ 8,17C $ 10,97¢

(1)  Included in working capite

Our working capital decreased in 2012 primas a result of decreases in accounts recedvab$8.0 million and cash and cash
equivalents of $2.8 million, primarily due to aneoall decline in net sales during the year, pdytiaffset by decreases in accounts payable of
$2.8 million and accrued payroll and related ligieis of $1.0 million as management cut overheaddcount, sales commissions and other
expenses.

Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended Decen®8e2012 and December 31, 2011.

The following table summarizes our caskvlidor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activitie! $ (6,959 $ (7,424

Investing activities (1,655 52C

Financing activitie: 5,83¢ 3,22¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva $ (2,780 $ (3,675)

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for tharyended December 29, 2012 was primarily thetreé() a net loss
of approximately $14.0 million and (ii) approximbt&3.0 million in net cash used by changes in afieg assets and liabilities, primarily
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accruedlpapd related liabilities and inventory. Cashdise fund net losses is reduced by
approximately $4.0 million in net non-cash opemxpenses, mainly comprised of depreciation anotération and stock-based
compensation.

Accounts receivable decreased approxim&®@I§ million at December 29, 2012 compared witleddeber 31, 2011, primarily as a result
of a decrease in our net sales of $10.4 milliothexfourth quarter of 2012 as compared with thetfoquarter of 2011.

Inventories increased approximately $1.Bioni during 2012 as we built inventory to suppibre sales launch of qualified HyperCloud®
products and continued the qualification proces$igher density HyperCloud® products and othehkignsity memory modules. Our
inventory also increased as a result of a fastar #xpected decline in sales of our prior generadtigvault products™. We expect that, our
inventory levels will continue to be determined byong other factors, the level of customer ordersived and overall demand as well as the
stage at which our products are in their respedifieeycles and competitive situations in the nepkace. We make efforts to balance such
considerations against the risk of obsolescengmtmtially excess inventory levels.
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Accounts payable, net of amounts due foperty and equipment purchases, decreased appttekr$2.9 million during 2012 as a result
of decreasing purchases to support a lower levehlas activity.

Net cash used in operating activities far year ended December 31, 2011 was primarilyabeltrof (i) a net loss of approximately
$5.6 million and (ii) approximately $5.8 million imet cash used by changes in operating assetsaaildiés, primarily accounts receivable and
inventory. Cash used to fund net losses is redbgeapproximately $4.0 million in net non-cash opi@gexpenses, mainly comprised of
depreciation and amortization and stock-based cosgt®n.

Investing Activities. In 2012 and 2011, we continued to invest reinginet proceeds from our public offerings and detaincing in
various money market and marketable securitiessinvents in connection with our efforts to both pree capital as well as achieve
competitive returns on our investments.

Net cash used in investing activities far year ended December 29, 2012 was the resiieafaquisition of $1.7 million in property and
equipment. Net cash provided by investing actisifier the year ended December 31, 2011 was priyntiel result of proceeds from the
maturities and sales of marketable securities pf@pmately $1.3 million. We also used approximat®d.7 million in cash primarily to
purchase equipment related to our production faslin the PRC and our research and developméuiti&s in Irvine, California.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities foe tyear ended December 29, 2012 was primarilyasgltrof net
proceeds of (i) $3.9 million in net proceeds frdra sale of 1,312,669 shares of our common stockifir our sales agreement with
Ascendiant, described below under the cap@apital Resources(ii)$1.3 million in net proceeds from the salelg$85,394 shares of our
common stock through a registered public offera®gcribed below under the caption Capital Resouyiite$1.3 million in net proceeds from
the consolidation of and additional credit extendeder our bank term loans, and (iv) $0.6 millinrproceeds from the exercise of equity
awards under our stock option plans, offset by yepmt of bank debt, capital leases and other raatgable of $4.5 million. Net cash provided
by financing activities for the year ended Decen®#r2011 was a result of net proceeds of $2.9anifrom a bank term loan obtained from
Silicon Valley Bank and $1.9 million in net proceddom the sale of 697,470 shares of our commarkdtwough our sales agreement with
Ascendiant, offset by repayment of bank debt, eafgtases and other notes payable of $1.7 million.

In 2012 and 2011, we utilized our linexaddit with Silicon Valley Bank to fund shaiefrm working capital needs and collateralize vel
credit.

Capital Resources.

On October 31, 2009, we entered into aitegpteement with Silicon Valley Bank, which wasemded on March 24, 2010, June 30, 2(
September 30, 2010, May 11, 2011, August 10, 20@1May 14, 2012. Currently, the credit agreemeatigies for a line of credit pursuant to
which we can borrow up to the lesser of (i) 80%lidible accounts receivable, or (ii) $10.0 millidi'e have the option to increase credit
availability to $15.0 million at any time throughet maturity date of September 30, 2014, subjettte@onditions of the credit agreement. Priol
to the May 14, 2012 amendment the credit agreegmrtined an overall sublimit of $10.0 million tollateralize our contingent obligations
under letters of credit and other financial sersid@mounts outstanding under the overall sublieituced the amount available under the line.
As a result of the May 14, 2012 amendment, lettésedit and other financial services are no lersgibject to borrowing base sublimits, and
do not reduce the amount available under the lireeaalit. Instead, we have an additional creditlitgcfor up to $3.0 million in letters of credit
through September 30, 2014. All obligations unterdredit agreement are secured by a first pritistyon our tangible and intangible
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assets. The only restriction on the use of fundieuthe revolving line of credit is that we mustibeompliance with the covenants of the
credit agreement. Interest on the line of creditagable monthly at either (i) prime plus 1.25%lca as we maintain $8.5 million in revolvi
credit availability plus unrestricted cash on défpa#th the bank, or (ii) prime plus 2.25%. Additially, the credit agreement requires payment
for an unused line, as well as anniversary ang ¢amnination fees, as applicable. At December2Pd.2, letters of credit in the amount of
$2.0 million were outstanding.

In connection with the September 30, 20h@rdment to the credit agreement, Silicon ValleglBextended a $1.5 million term loan
under the credit agreement, bearing interest ateaaf prime plus 2.00%. We were required to makeakmonthly principal payments over the
36 month term, which totaled $0.5 million annualty May 2011, Silicon Valley Bank extended an aiddial $3.0 million term loan, bearing
interest at a rate of prime plus 2.75%. We weraired to make equal monthly principal payments dglier24 month term of the loan, totaling
$1.5 million annually. In May 2012, Silicon Vall8ank consolidated the term loans and extendediedditcredit, resulting in a combined
term loan balance of $3.5 million. We are requiedhake equal monthly principal payments over an®®th period, beginning in December
2012, and monthly interest payments from the datkeofunding through the final payoff of the lodrhe consolidated loan bears interest at a
rate of prime plus 2.5%, or 6.5%. At December 28,2 $3.4 was outstanding under the term loans.

The credit agreement includes affirmatind aegative covenants, including financial covesavith respect to our liquidity and tangible
net worth. We are required on a monthly basis tmtaen a minimum adjusted quick ratio of 1.0 to &rfi a minimum tangible net worth of
$15 million plus (i) 50% of new equity and subomtied debt plus (ii) 50% of quarterly net income.aA®sult of continuing losses, the
Company was out of compliance with the tangiblewaith debt covenant during the fourth quarter@f2 We anticipate that it is likely that
we will continue to violate one or more financialvenants in the near future. The facility also eorg customary events of default, including
payment defaults, breaches of representations an@mties, and covenant defaults.

On January 23, 2013, we entered into aefdnce agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (therbéarance Agreement”), pursuant to wt
Silicon Valley Bank agreed to forbear from filingyalegal action or instituting or enforcing anyhig and remedies it may have against us as
result of our violation of the financial covenant#il February 28, 2013. On March 27, 2013, theaffeness of the Forbearance Agreement
was extended until April 30, 2013. The Companyuisently working with Silicon Valley Bank to obtamwaiver of our non-compliance with
one of the financial covenants contained in thelitagreement. However, we may be unable to olstait a waiver. If we are unable to obtain
a waiver, additional forbearance or a modificatiothe covenant in violation, the lender could #m@ae all of our outstanding obligations
under the credit agreement. In addition, we coode Icertain vendor credit should the letters aflicissued under the credit agreement becom
unavailable. If that were to occur, we may be uaablquickly obtain equivalent or suitable replaeetfinancing. If we were not able to sec
alternative sources of funding, such acceleratioald/have a material adverse impact on our findmciadition.

Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreemenpriheipal amount outstanding under the revolvimg lof credit accrues interest at a per annun
rate equal to the following (i) at all times thaB&eamline Period is in effect, 1.75% above thm@Rate; and (ii) at all times that a Streamline
Period is not in effect, 2.75% above the Prime Ratéch interest shall be payable monthly. A StréaenPeriod requires us to maintain
$8.5 million in revolving credit availability plusnrestricted cash on deposit with the bank. As afdfl 27, 2013, the interest rate on the
revolving line of credit is 6.75%. In addition, therrowing base reserve on the revolving line efidrincreased from $1 million to $2 million
dollars thereby limiting the borrowing availabilitursuant to the Forbearance Agreement, the pghamount outstanding under the term
accrues interest at a per annum rate equal to 3atisie the Prime Rate; which interest shall be lplaymonthly. As of March 27, 2013, the
interest rate on the term loan is 7.25%.
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The following table presents details ofstamding borrowings and availability under our lofecredit (in thousands):

December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 1,48€ $ 7,791
Outstanding borrowings on the revolving line ofdit: — —
Amounts reserved under credit sublin — (2,029
Unutilized borrowing availability under the revahg line of credi $ 1,48¢ $ 5,77¢

On November 21, 2011, we entered into essafjreement with Ascendiant as sales agent. ordartce with the terms of the sales
agreement, we were able to issue and sell shams @ommon stock having an aggregate offeringepoicup to $10.0 million. Since
November 2011, we have received net proceeds obriopately $5.8 million, including approximately $3million raised through the sale
approximately 1,312,669 shares during the yeareceBdember 29, 2012. Sales of shares of our constezk may be made in a series of
transactions from time to time as we may directehstiant in sales deemed to be an "at the markf&tting as defined in Rule 415 under the
Securities Act of 1933. Such sales are made pursoamr effective $40 million shelf registratiotatement filed with the SEC in September
2011. We may terminate the sales agreement witkemsant at any time. In the event of such termamtive would expect to make available
any remaining unsold portion of the $10.0 millioneiggregate offering price for other sources dariting that are permitted under the effec
shelf registration statement. The sales agreemiéimtAscendiant does not preclude us from pursuthgrsources of financing. We may be
limited in our ability to benefit from the agreentevith Ascendiant if the volume of our shares théethe market or the market price of our
shares is low.

On December 20, 2012, we raised gross poscef $1.5 million in a registered public offeriofyjour securities. The offering closed on
December 26, 2012, and we received net proceeds.8fmillion after deducting commissions and offgrcosts. The offering resulted in the
issuance of 1,685,394 shares of common stock an@mia to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,275B8&tes of our common stock, which
represents 135% of the number of shares issuedadddn the offering. Each warrant grants the hottie right to purchase one share of our
common stock at an exercise price of $0.89 perestiad expires in June 2018. These warrants becoeneigable 181 days following the
December 26, 2012 issuance date.

We have in the past utilized equipmentileaarrangements to finance certain capital exgares. Equipment leases continue to be a
financing alternative that we expect to pursuehafuture.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvarrg availability under our bank credit faciligroceeds available under the sales agreemen
with Ascendiant and the cash expected to be gertbfadm operations, will be sufficient to meet anmticipated cash needs for at least the nex
12 months. However, should we need additional agpite may seek to raise capital through, amongrdtiings, public and private equity
offerings and debt financings. Our future capigguirements will depend on many factors, including levels of net sales, the timing and
extent of expenditures to support research andadewent activities, the expansion of manufactugagacity both domestically and
internationally and the continued market acceptarficrir products. Additional funds may not be aaflié on terms acceptable to us, or at ¢
adequate working capital is not available when aded/e may be required to significantly modify dusiness model and operations to reduc:
spending to a sustainable level. It could cauge b unable to execute our business plan, takeraage of future opportunities, or respond to
competitive pressures or customer requiremenisait also cause us to
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delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of @search and development programs, or to reduceagemperations.
Liquidity

We incurred net losses of approximately.@Hdillion and $5.6 million for the year ended Dexd®er 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of@pmately $86.7 million at December 29, 2012. d#idition, we used cash in operating
activities of approximately $7.0 million and $7.4llran for the years ended December 29, 2012 ancebwer 31, 2011, respectively. As a
result of continuing losses, we are out of comméwith the tangible net worth debt covenant dutivgfourth quarter of 2012. We have
initiated discussions with Silicon Valley Bank t@ive the violations and amend the credit agreement.

In addition to renegotiating the creditegment with Silicon Valley Bank, we are evaluatigential financing opportunities and allian
or other partnership agreements with entities @stied in our technologies. We are also plannirrgdace expenses, continue efforts to qualify
new and enhanced products with our OEM customatspeotect our intellectual property.

If adequate working capital is not avaitatdhen needed, we may be required to significantidify our business model and operations tc
reduce spending to a sustainable level. It coulbeals to be unable to execute our business plam atlvantage of future opportunities, or
respond to competitive pressures or customer rexpgints. It may also cause us to delay, scale haglknginate some or all of our research anc
development programs, or to reduce or cease oprsatiVhile there is no assurance that we can meetwenue forecasts or successfully
negotiate the terms of the credit agreement wiliodi Valley Bank, we anticipate that we can sustulyy execute our plans and continue
operations for at least the next twelve months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with ustdidated entities or financial partnerships, saskentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehldeen established for the purpose of facilitatifidpalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In aduitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,@&nd we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materdposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &ia
The financial statements and supplemertdatg required by this item are included in Partlt¥m 15 of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotents on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the parttipn of our management, including our principad@xtive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols and procedures, as such term is defimBdile 13at5(e) under the Exchange £
as of the end of the period covered by this ref@gated on this evaluation, our principal executiffecer and our principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiuere effective to provide reasonable assurdmateértformation required to be disclosed
by us in reports we file or
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submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, prockssenmarized and reported within the time persmkcified in the SEC's rules and forms,
and is accumulated and communicated to our managemeluding our principal executive officer andneipal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisind maintaining adequate internal control divemcial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuiding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlenation of the effectiveness of our internal cohtrver financial reporting as of
December 29, 2012 based on the criteria set fodtht@érnal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisnevaluation, our management concluded thatrdernal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 29, 2012.

This Annual Report does not include anstdtiion report of our independent registered puddimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report watssubject to attestation by our independent regast public accounting firm pursuant to the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissionpiyanit us to provide only management's repothis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal obver financial reporting during the fourth quarbf 2012 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interoantrol over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well coneei and operated, can provide only reasonableglveiilute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefit®ptrols must be considered relative to theitsoBecause of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can pi®absolute assurance that all control issuesratances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include ttadities that judgments in decision making can hatyaand that breakdowns can occur bec
of simple errors. Additionally, controls can beccimvented by the individual acts of some persopgatfiusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls is also based in part upetaceassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gamlder all potential future conditions.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-affeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraard may occur and not be detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluatmfreffectiveness to future periods are subjectdksrthat controls may become inadequate be
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compéanith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by this Pdkid omitted from this Annual Report as we expiectile our definitive Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regaiafi4A of the Exchange Act not later than 120 d&yer the end of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report, and certain information irdgd in the Proxy Statement is incorporated hdrgireference.

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpmate Governance

We incorporate by reference herein theigestentitied "Election Of Directors," "Board Of@ctors; Audit Committee Financial Expert"
And "Other Information—Section 16(a) Beneficial Cavship Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement

We have adopted a "Code of Business CoratutEthics" that applies to all employees, inalgddur executive officers. A copy of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted ointernet site atvww.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,amtgr
any waivers of, a provision of the Code of Busin@ssduct and Ethics that applies to the principelcetive officer, principal financial officer,
or principal accounting officer that requires dostire under applicable rules promulgated undeS#uwairrities Act or Exchange Act, we intend
to disclose such amendment or waiver and the reabene for on our Internet site.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiExecutive Compensation” and "Directors'
Compensation" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiBOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Mégrs

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiCertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiAuditors, Audit Fees and Auditor
Independence" in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(2) All financial statements filed agtpaf this report.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimg F-2
Consolidated Balance She F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive F-5
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Ec F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-7

(a)(2) Exhibits

3.1

10.%

10.z

10.%#

10.4

10.%

10.6#

10.#

10.€

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netllst. (incorporated by reference to the
exhibit 3.1 of the registration statement on Forh & the registrant (No. 33836735
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissthe {SEC") on October 23, 200

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, Inc.diporated by reference to exhibit
number 3.1 of the registrant's Current Report omF8-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 201:

Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Piddedist, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.7 of the registration stegat on Form S-1 of the registrant
(No. 33:-136735) filed with the SEC on October 23, 20

Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and dba's (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.12 of the registration statement on F&h of the registrant (No. 333-
136735) filed with the SEC on August 18, 20

Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 20@&elea Netlist, Inc. and Chun K.
Hong (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18hefregistration statement on
Form S-1 of the registrant (No. 333-136735) fileithvihe SEC on September 27,
2006)

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Piddedist, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's QarrtReport on Form 10-Q filed with
the SEC on August 12, 201

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement issuadyant to the 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan of Netlist, Inc. (incorporated byerence to exhibit 10.2 of the
Quarterly Report on Form -Q of the registrant filed with the SEC on May 1010)

Stock Option Agreement dated June 8, 2010 betteeregistrant and Lisa Roger
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.5 of thgistration statement on Form S-8 of
the registrant (No. 3:-168330) filed with the SEC on July 27, 20:

Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 202 P@tween the registrant and
Gerard Yeh (incorporated by reference to exhibi91d the registrant's Annual Rep
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December281. filed with the SEC on
February 28, 201z

Lease (Multi-Tenant; Net), dated April 2, 200y,dnd between The Irvine

Company LLC and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refece to exhibit number 10.1 of
the Current Report on Forn-K of the registrant filed with the SEC on April 3)07)
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10.€

10.1C

10.11

10.12

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.15

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2¢*

10.27

10.22*

First Amendment to Lease, dated May 10, 2013y between The Irvine
Company LLC and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refece to exhibit 10.2 of the
Quarterly Report on Form -Q of the registrant filed with the SEC on May 1212)

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Oct8ibeP009, between Silicon Valley
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by referermexhibit 10.1 of the registrant's
Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated asobdlaer 31, 2009, between Silic
Valley Bank, Netlist, Inc., and Netlist Technologgxas, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.2 of the registrant's QurReport on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on November 2, 200

Guarantor Security Agreement entered into asabbker 31, 2009 between Silicon
Valley Bank and Netlist Technology Texas LP (inamgied by reference to
exhibit 10.3 of the registrant's Current Reporfanm 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 2, 200¢

Intellectual Property Security Agreement entén¢d as of October 31, 2009 by and
between Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (ingorated by reference to

exhibit 10.4 of the registrant's Current Reporfanm 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 2, 200¢

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as atMa4, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed with the SEC on May 17, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into asmoé 30, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as pfedaber 30, 2010, by and
between Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (ingorated by reference to

exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's Quarterly Repartrmrm 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 17, 201(

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Ma 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as @uati10, 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forrr-Q filed with the SEC on August 15, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Mg 2012, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q filed with the SEC on May 15, 201

Design and Production Agreement relating to RegidSIC (the "Production Register
Agreement”), dated July 31, 2008, by and betwedtigdnc. and Toshiba America
Electronic Components, Inc. (“Toshiba") (incorperhby reference to exhibit 10.3 of
the registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreemgaited May 22, 2009, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddfgrence to exhibit 10.4 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Fornm-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreemgaited January 28, 2010, by and

between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddigrence to exhibit 10.5 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Form-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:
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10.2%

10.2#

10.2%*

10.2¢*

10.27*

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3C

10.31

10.3z+

21.1

23+

24.1+

31.1+

31.z+

32+

101.INS++

101.SCH+

Amendment #2 to the Production Register Agreemaaited March 10, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddigrence to exhibit 10.6 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Design and Production Agreement relating to IDI@$%the "Production 1D
Agreement"), dated July 31, 2008, by and betwesdtigdnc. and Toshiba
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 of tbgistrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #1 to the Production ID Agreement, datenuary 28, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddigrence to exhibit 10.8 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #2 to the Production ID Agreement, dd#arch 10, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddfgrence to exhibit 10.9 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Fornm-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

ASIC Design and Production Agreement, dated Audds 2010, between Open
Silicon, Inc. and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated byemr@nce to exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q/A field with the SEC on August 24, 201
Sales Agreement, dated November 21, 2011, betiNedist, Inc. and Ascendiant
Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated by referencexaibit 10.1 of the registrant's
Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on November 22, 201

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, datedbleee20, 2012 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's QurReport on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 20, 201

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference toileixi.1 of the registrant's Current
Report on Form-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 20:

Placement Agent Agreement, dated December 2@, 231and between Netlist, Inc.
and Ascendiant Capital Markets, LLC (incorporatgdéference to exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant's Current Report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 20:

Forbearance to Loan and Security Agreement, ddsedh 27, 2013, by and between
Netlist, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bar

Subsidiaries of Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refece to exhibit 21.1 of the registral
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year eshid=cember 31, 2011 filed with
the SEC on February 28, 201

Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LL|

Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this report

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Pedi@ Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)
or Rule 15-15(e).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Ped@ Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)
or Rule 15-15(e).

Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer of Periodic Rep¢
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
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101.CAL++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.LAB++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

101.DEH++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docun

+ Filed herewith.

++ Furnished herewith. In accordance with Rule 406Redulation S-T, the information in these exhikhsll not be
deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 1&hefSecurities and Exchange Act of 1934, or otteswsubject to
liability under that section, and shall not be irpmrated by reference into any registration stateéroeother document
filed under the Securities Act of 1933, exceptgwessly set forth by specific reference in sutihdi

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

* Confidential treatment has been granted or reqdesith respect to portions of this exhibit pursuemRule 24b-2 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and these confidigmbrtions have been redacted from the filing tedncorporated by
reference. A complete copy of this exhibit, inchuglithe redacted terms, has been separately filddthe SEC

(b) Exhibits
See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

Date: March 29, 2013
NETLIST, INC.

By: /sl CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Boar

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenresidoelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s CHUN K. HONG President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board (Principal March 29, 2013
Chun K. Hong Executive Officer’
/sl GAIL SASAKI Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and March 29, 2013
Gail Sasak Principal Accounting Officer
/s/ HK DESAI
Director March 29, 2013
HK Desai

/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA

Director March 29, 2013
Thomas F. Lagatt
/s CLAUDE M. LEGLISE
Director March 29, 2013
Claude M. Leglis¢
/s/ ALAN H. PORTNOY
Director March 29, 2013

Alan H. Portnoy
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididifies"Company") as of December 29, 2012
and December 31, 2011, and the related consolids¢eiments of operations, stockholders' equitycantprehensive loss and cash flows for
the years then ended. These consolidated finasteitgments are the responsibility of the Compangsagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finasta¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestaobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are fre
of material misstatement. The Company is not reguio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration ogintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tinppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveioéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesdib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesief audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeersolidated financial statement presentatioe. Wglieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as otBmber 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and thelueted results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years then ended, in conity with accounting principles generally acceptethe United States of America.

/s/ KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 29, 2013
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

December 29 December 31
2012 2011
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 7,755 $ 10,53t
Investment in marketable securit 41F
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdftitounts of $47

(2012) and $47 (201: 3,43¢ 11,39¢
Inventories 7,38( 6,057
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 723 80¢€

Total current asse 19,707 28,79

Property and equipment, r 2,56( 2,771
Long-term investments in marketable securi — 444
Other asset 13C 161
Total asset $ 22,397 $ 32,17
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 3,361 $ 6,15¢
Accrued payroll and related liabilitit 784 1,81:
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 497 46C
Accrued engineering charg 45C 45C
Current portion of lon-term debt 3,49z 2,14¢
Total current liabilities 8,591 11,02:
Long-term debt, net of current portic — 1,11¢
Other liabilities 94 94
Total liabilities 8,68¢ 12,23«
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—10,000 sharémanéd; no

shares issued and outstand — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valu®8;000 shares authorized; 30,

(2012) and 26,390 (2011) shares issued and ouistp 30 26
Additional paic-in capital 100,40: 92,70¢
Accumulated defici (86,727 (72,740
Accumulated other comprehensive | — (56)

Total stockholders' equit 13,71 19,93¢

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 22,397 $ 32,17

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&sients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Net sales $ 36,87 $ 60,72¢
Cost of sales(1 27,474 40,46¢
Gross profit 9,39¢ 20,26:
Operating expense
Research and development 12,84¢ 14,92«
Selling, general and administrative: 10,07¢ 10,70¢
Total operating expens: 22,92( 25,62¢
Operating los! (13,52) (5,36¢)
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (339 (228
Other expense, n (139 (56)
Total other expense, n (472 (289
Loss before income tax bene (13,999 (5,652
Income tax benefi (12 (53
Net loss $ (13,98) $ (5,599
Net loss per common shal
Basic and dilute: $ (0.50 $ (0.29)
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic and dilutes 27,85:¢ 25,08¢
(1)  Amounts include sto-based compensation expense as follc
Cost of sale: $ 114 $ 79
Research and developme 667 60C
Selling, general and administrati 1,11(C 941

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&sients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Net loss $ (13,98) $ (5,599
Other comprehensive los
Unrealized loss transferred from other comprehenkiss to
earnings 56 59
Net unrealized loss on investments, net of — (4
Total comprehensive lo: $ (13,929 $ (5,544

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands)

Series A
Preferred
Stock Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

Balance,
January 1,
2011 — — 2528:$ 259% 89,07« $ (67,14)% (11$ 21,847
Stock-based
compensati — — 11 — 1,62( — — 1,62(
Exercise of
stock
options — — 43¢ — 203 — — 203
Repurchase ¢
common
stock — — (37) — (78 — — (78)
Issuance of
common
stock — — 697 1 1,89( — — 1,891
Components
of
comprehen
loss:
Change in ne!
unrealized
loss on
investments — — — — — — 55 55
Net loss — — — — — (5,599 — (5,599
Balance,
December 31
2011 — —  26,39( 26 92,70¢ (72,740 (56) 19,93¢
Stock-based
compensati — — (48) — 1,891 — — 1,891
Exercise of
stock
options — — 1,032 1 687 — — 68€
Repurchase ¢
common
stock — — (24) — (64) — — (64)
Issuance of
common
stock — — 2,99¢ 3 5,18( — — 5,18¢
Components
of
comprehen
loss:
Reversal of
unrealized
loss due to
recognition
in current
year — — — — — — 56 56
Net loss — — — — — (13,98) — (13,98)
Balance,
December 29
2012 — — 30,34¢$ 30 $100,40: $ (86,72) % — $ 13,71:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#isients
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (13,98) $ (5,599
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,987 2,24;
Realized loss on sale of investments in marketsdxerities 85 59
Realized loss on sale of equipm 53 —
Provision for bad debr — 35
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,891 1,62(
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 7,96t (4,989
Inventories (1,329 (1,549
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 263 75¢
Other asset 31 12¢
Accounts payabl (2,939 (102
Accrued payroll and related liabilitie (2,029 51
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 37 101
Accrued engineering charg — (18¢)
Net cash used in operating activit (6,959 (7,429
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme (1,699 (744
Proceeds from sale of equipmi 43 —
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsarketable
securities — 1,264
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (1,655 52C
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred 3,20( 50C
Payments on lines of cret (3,200 (500
Proceeds of bank term lo. 1,31¢ 2,93¢
Payments on del (1,292 (1,729
Proceeds from public offering, n 5,18: 1,891
Proceeds from exercise of equity awards, net efgagmitted for
restricted stocl 624 12¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 5,83¢ 3,22¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva (2,780 (3,675
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 10,53¢ 14,21(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 7,758 % 10,53t

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 29, 2012
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistlesigns and manufactures a wide variety of higfopmance, logic-based memory subsystems
for the global datacenter and high-performance agmg and communications markets. The Company'sangsubsystems consist of
combinations of dynamic random access memory iatedrcircuits ("DRAM ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash nmaory ("NAND"), application-
specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") and othengmonents assembled on printed circuit boards ("PCBktlist primarily markets and sells
products to leading original equipment manufact(t®EM") customers. The Company's solutions argetad at applications where memory
plays a key role in meeting system performanceirements. The Company leverages a portfolio of pedary technologies and design
techniques, including efficient planar design, ral&ive packaging techniques and custom semicoadiagic, to deliver memory subsystems
with high memory density, small form factor, higgreal integrity, attractive thermal characteristieduced power consumption and low cost
per bit. Our NVvault™ product is the first to offeoth DRAM and NAND in a standard form factor megnsubsystem as a persistent DIMM
in mission critical applications.

Netlist was incorporated in June 2000 anlgeiadquartered in Irvine, California. In 2007, @@mpany established a manufacturing facility
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), aHi@ecame operational in July 2007 upon the suadegsélification of certain key
customers.

Liquidity

The Company incurred net losses of apprateiy $14.0 million and $5.6 million for the yearded December 29, 2012 and Decembe
2011, respectively, and had an accumulated deficipproximately $86.7 million at December 29, 20ib2addition, the Company used casl!
operating activities of approximately $7.0 milliand $7.4 million for the year ended December 29228hd December 31, 2011, respectively
As a result of continuing losses, the Company waobcompliance with the tangible net worth detwtenant during the fourth quarter of
2012.

On January 23, 2013, we entered into aefrdince agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (therbéarance Agreement"), pursuant to wt
Silicon Valley Bank agreed to forbear from filingyalegal action or instituting or enforcing anyhig and remedies it may have against us as
result of our violation of the financial covenant#il February 28, 2013. On March 27, 2013, theaffeness of the Forbearance Agreement
was extended until April 30, 2013, or an earlieiedander certain conditions, such as the occurrefiae event of default or our breach of the
Forbearance Agreement. The Company is currentlkiwgwith Silicon Valley Bank to obtain a waiver ofir non-compliance with the
financial covenants contained in the credit agregntdowever, we may be unable to obtain such aevalfwe are unable to obtain a waiver,
additional forbearance or a modification to theuieed liquidity levels, the lender could acceleralleof our outstanding obligations under the
credit agreement. In addition, we could lose vermledit should the letters of credit issued untlerdredit agreement become unavailable. If
that were to occur, we may be unable to quickhawbéquivalent or suitable replacement financifiged were not able to secure alternative
sources of funding, such acceleration would hanegerial adverse impact on our financial condition.

In addition to renegotiating the creditegment with Silicon Valley Bank, the Company's nggamaent is evaluating potential financing
opportunities and alliances or other partnershipaments with entities interested in the Compaegknologies. The Company is also
planning to

F-8




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 29, 2012
Note 1—Description of Business (Continued)
reduce its expenses and continue its efforts ttifgueew and enhanced products with its OEM custame

The Company raised net proceeds of appabein $3.9 million in the year ended December 2d,2and approximately $1.9 million in
the year ended December 31, 2011 under a salesnaginé with Ascendiant Capital Markets LLC ("Asceardf). In addition, on December 20,
2012, the Company raised net proceeds of approglyn@i.3 million in a registered public offeringffering") of its securities (see note 10).
The Company may raise additional funds throughQtbmpany's agreement with Ascendiant or throughratberces. The Company may be
limited in its ability to benefit from the agreememith Ascendiant if the volume of its shares trddtethe market or the market price of its
shares is low.

If adequate working capital is not avaieihen needed, the Company may be required tdisamily modify its business model and
operations to reduce spending to a sustainablé kweuld cause the Company to be unable to exeitsibusiness plan, take advantage of
future opportunities, or respond to competitivesgtees or customer requirements. It may also dhes€éompany to delay, scale back or
eliminate some or all of its research and develagmeograms, or to reduce or cease operations.a/ttélre is no assurance that the Company
can meet its revenue forecasts or successfullytimgahe terms of the credit agreement with Siistlley Bank, management anticipates tha
it can successfully execute its plans and contoperations for at least the next twelve months.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financigkestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegiprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S.").

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consadiulat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates under a 52/53-weeélfi@ar ending on the Saturday closest to DeceSthefhe 2012 and 2011 fiscal years
ended on December 29, 2012 and December 31, 28ddectively. Fiscal years 2012 and 2011 each dedsi$ 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discsiicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements,thadeported amounts of net sales and expensesgdhsg reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tharent degree of uncertainty.
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Significant estimates made by management includeng others, provisions for uncollectible receieaslbédnd sales returns, warranty liabilities
valuation of inventories, fair value of financiastruments, impairment of long-lived assets, stoaged compensation expense and realizatior
of deferred tax assets. The Company bases itsassnon historical experience, knowledge of curcenditions and the Company's belief of
what could occur in the future considering ava#aibformation. The Company reviews its estimateamon-going basis. The actual results
experienced by the Company may differ materiallg adversely from its estimates. To the extent thesematerial differences between the
estimates and the actual results, future resultpefations will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofiuct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers
("OEMs"). Revenues also include sales of excesantories to distributors and other users of menmgrated circuits ("ICs"), totaling less
than 1% of net revenues in 2012 and 2011.

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Financial Accounting Standards BoaFAGB") Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingly, the @mpany recognizes revenues when there is persuasgigdence that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdles price is fixed or determinable, and collgtitglof the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured.

The Company generally uses customer puecbiaters and/or contracts as evidence of an amaggfe Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with shipping point terms apdn receipt for customers with destination teratsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents agd tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. Company assesses whether the sales
price is fixed or determinable based on the payrteznis associated with the transaction and wheliegesales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsettirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of excesgponent inventories, which contain no
right-of-return privileges. Estimated returns arevided for at the time of sale based on historéogderience or specific identification of an
event necessitating a reserve. The Company offstanaard product warranty to our customers andchbagher posshipment obligations. Tt
Company assesses collectability based on the wmditiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatedipping and handling are classified as revenub#ewll costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost @&ssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cadislaort-term investments with original maturititdghree months or less, other than short-tern
investments in securities that lack an active nmarke

Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaanketable securities in accordance with ASC T8gi@. The Company determines the
appropriate classification of its investments attime of purchase
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and reevaluates such designation at each balaret ddite. The Company's investments in marketablgriies have been classified and
accounted for as available-for-sale based on manages investment intentions relating to these siest Available-for-sale securities are
stated at fair value, generally based on marketegiido the extent they are available. Unrealizgdsgjand losses, net of applicable deferred
taxes, are recorded as a component of other compsate income (loss). Realized gains and lossesleclthes in value judged to be other |
temporary are determined based on the specifidifaeion method and are reported in other inconed,in the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company generally invests its excesh @adomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry feddegdosit insurance, mon
market funds and highly liquid debt instrumentdJoB. municipalities, corporations and the U.S. gomeent and its agencies. All highly liquid
investments with stated maturities of three mowthess from the date of purchase are classifiezhsls equivalents; all investments with st
maturities of greater than three months are classifs investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments corgistcipally of cash and cash equivalents, investi:ién marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensesedmdhstruments. Other than for certain invest@ntuction rate securities and short-term
corporate bonds (see Note 4), the fair value ofdbmpany's cash equivalents and investments ineteble securities is determined based on
quoted prices in active markets for identical assetLevel 1 inputs. Because of their short-terturea short-term corporate bonds are not
frequently traded. Although there are observableegifor these securities, the markets are noideresl active. Accordingly, the fair values
these investments are based on Level 2 inputsCbingpany recognizes transfers between Levels 1 ghr8wf the fair value hierarchy at the
beginning of the reporting period. The Companyebads that the carrying values of all other finahicistruments approximate their current 1
values due to their nature and respective durations

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectabilitaofounts receivable based on a combination odfeicin cases where the Company is aware
of circumstances that may impair a specific custsrability to meet its financial obligations suaent to the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelice the net recognized receivable to the attberCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Companygrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedasifynon the length of time the
receivables are past due based on the terms ofitfirating transaction, the current business emvirent and its historical experience.
Uncollectible accounts are charged against thevathee for doubtful accounts when all cost effectisemmercial means of collection have
been exhausted.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflitrrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.

The Company invests its cash equivalentsagrily in money market mutual funds. Cash equintdeare maintained with high quality
institutions, the composition and maturities of @rhare regularly monitored by management. The Compad $5.3 million of FDIC insured
cash and cash equivalents at December 29, 201&stiments in marketable securities are generalygh-credit quality debt instruments. St
investments are made only in instruments issuethbanced by highuality institutions. The Company has not realiaeg credit losses relat
to these investments.

The Company's trade accounts receivablerararily derived from sales to OEMs in the congrundustry (see Note 12). The Company
performs credit evaluations of its customers' fmalhcondition and limits the amount of credit exded when deemed necessary, but generall
requires no collateral. Credit quality is monitofgdevaluation of credit scores and collectiondrgt The Company believes that the
concentration of credit risk in its trade receivezbis moderated by its credit evaluation procedatively short collection terms, the high level
of credit worthiness of its customers, foreign drédsurance and letters of credit issued on then@any's behalf. Reserves are maintained for
potential credit losses, and such losses histtyibalve not been significant and have been withimagement's expectations. Potential credit
losses are limited to the gross value of accowusivable.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of abtwst to purchase or manufacture the inventoth®mnet realizable value of the inventory. Cosi
is determined on an average cost basis which appabes actual cost on a first-in, first-out basid &ncludes raw materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead. At each balance sheet tti@&ompany evaluates its ending inventory quastidn hand and on order and records a
provision for excess quantities and obsolescenoemy other factors, the Company considers histodieanand and forecasted demand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivenafsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles when determining
obsolescence and net realizable value. In additienCompany considers changes in the market wdloemponents in determining the net
realizable value of its inventory. Provisions arad®a to reduce excess or obsolete inventories odastmated net realizable values. Once
established, write-downs are considered permardmstanents to the cost basis of the excess or etesmlventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atara$tepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvemeateegorded at cost and amortized on a straigbtHasis over the shorter of their estimatec
useful lives or the remaining lease term.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitthefcarrying value of long-lived assets held aselduby the Company for impairment on at
least an annual basis or whenever events or chamg&sumstances indicate that their carrying eatuay not be recoverable. When such
factors and circumstances exist, the Company cagsghe projected undiscounted future net cash famsgsciated with the related asset or
group of assets over their estimated useful liggsrest their respective carrying amount. If theryiag value is determined not to be
recoverable from future operating cash flows, the&etis deemed impaired and an impairment log@gnized to the extent the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value of the assetfdihealue of the asset or asset group is basedarket value when available, or when
unavailable, on discounted expected cash flows.ddrapany's management believes there is no impatrafdong-lived assets as of
December 29, 2012. There can be no assurance, boweat market conditions will not change or dechfor the Company's products will
continue, which could result in future impairmehtang-lived assets.

Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties galheranging from one to three years, dependingherproduct and negotiated terms of any
purchase agreements with customers. Such warraetiege the Company to repair or replace defegiregluct returned to the Company
during such warranty period at no cost to the gusto Warranties are not offered on sales of excesgponent inventory. The Company
records an estimate for warranty-related costiseatiine of sale based on its historical and esgchptoduct return rates and expected repair o
replacement costs (see Note 3). Such costs hategitddly been within management's expectationsthrgrovisions established.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuanze®h-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 50btrAnsactions in which goods or
services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for baredtie fair value of the consideration
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable.Mbasurement date used to determine the
fair value of the equity instrument issued is thdier of the date on which the third-party perfamoe is complete or the date on which it is
probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expettegst, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituresbtmestimated at the time of grant and revisedeéessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Conymestimated average forfeiture rates are basduistarical forfeiture experience and
estimated future forfeitures.
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The fair value of common stock option aveam employees and directors is calculated usieddthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expattime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafia@ir values of the Company's common
stock option awards. The expected term of optioaatgd is calculated as the average of the weigresting period and the contractual
expiration date of the option. This calculatiot&sed on the safe harbor method permitted by ti@igkstances where the vesting and
exercise terms of options granted meet certainitond and where limited historical exercise datavailable. The expected volatility is based
on the historical volatility of the Company's conmeiock. The riskree rate selected to value any particular grabased on the U.S. Treas
rate that corresponds to the expected term ofiduet g@ffective as of the date of the grant. Theeetgd dividend assumption is based on the
Company's history and management's expectatiomdiegadividend payouts. Compensation expense fomson stock option awards with
graded vesting schedules is recognized on a striighbasis over the requisite service periodtfigrlast separately vesting portion of the
award, provided that the accumulated cost recograzeof any date at least equals the value ofdbted portion of the award.

The Company recognizes the fair value sfrigted stock awards issued to employees anddeutkiectors as stock-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the ves@émngg for the last separately vesting portion & #twards. Fair value is determined as the
difference between the closing price of our comrsimtk on the grant date and the purchase prideeafesstricted stock award, if any, reduced
by expected forfeitures.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geézed to reflect the estimated future tax effecédculated at currently effective tax rates, of
future deductible or taxable amounts attributablewents that have been recognized on a cumuladisis in the consolidated financial
statements. A valuation allowance related to adeédrred tax asset is recorded when it is moréylitean not that some portion of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitiongshodd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgitgon. Under ASC Topic 740 the Company may onboggize or continue to recognize tax
positions that meet a "more likely than not" thiddh

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxgensed in the period incurred.
Collaborative Agreements

In 2011, the Company entered into two mgnt@chnology Collaboration Agreements. The firgieggnent is a HyperCloud® Technology
Collaboration Agreement (the "IBM Agreement") wititernational Business Machines ("IBM"). Under tB& Agreement, IBM and the
Company have
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agreed to cooperate with respect to the qualificatf HyperCloud® technology for use with IBM sers@nd to engage in certain joint
marketing efforts if qualification is achieved. IBédhd the Company have agreed to commit resourakfiads in support of these activities.
The IBM Agreement is non-exclusive.

The second agreement is a Collaboratiore&mgent (the "HP Agreement”) with Hewlett-Packaran@any ("HP"). Under the HP
Agreement, HP and the Company have agreed to catepeith respect to the qualification of HyperCl@utkchnology for use with HP serve
and to engage in certain joint marketing effortguflification is achieved. HP and the Company heyreed to commit resources and funds in
support of these activities. The HP Agreement d@duesive for a period of time. HP and the Compameado collaborate on the future use of
HyperCloud® load reduction and rank multiplicati@ehnologies for next generation server memongfer

In 2011, the Company reimbursed IBM and$8F2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, fortltost of certain qualification activities.
The Company reimbursed HP an additional $0.9 mililothe year ended December 29, 2012. The payraemisicluded in research and
development expense in the accompanying consofiddiééement of operations. In addition, the Compaage $0.8 million of payments to
IBM for joint HyperCloud® marketing activities. TH@ompany is amortizing the $0.8 million paymentdm#o IBM based on actual unit
shipments compared with estimated total shipmeves e term of the Collaboration Agreement. ThenPany's net sales will be determined
after deduction of such customer allowances, im@ance with ASC 605-50.

There can be no assurance that the efiodsrtaken under either of the IBM or HP collabiorabgreements will result in revenues for
Company that are sufficient to cover the cost @lifjgation activities, including payments madeHB and IBM under the collaboration
agreements.

Through 2011, the Company maintained aabollative arrangement with a partner in order teelig products using certain of the
Company's proprietary technology. Under the arrarege, the development partner was granted aexatusive license to specified intellect
property for exclusive use in the development amdipction of ASIC chipsets for the Company. Bote @ompany and the development
partner provided engineering project managememouress at their own expense. The development pasae entitled to non-recurring
engineering fees based upon the achievement ofatewent milestones, and to a minimum portion of@wenpany's purchasing allocations
the component. Expenses incurred and paid to thelalament partner were insignificant in 2011. ADafcember 31, 2011, the operational
financial obligations under the agreement have e\éiied.

Comprehensive Loss

ASC Topic 220 establishes standards foonteyy and displaying comprehensive income (loss) its components in the consolidated
financial statements. Accumulated other comprekerisss includes unrealized gains or losses orsiments.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to certain risks @amckrtainties and management believes that sigmifichanges in their ability to obtain
profitable operations due to the history of lossed accumulated deficits, the Company's dependamesfew customers for a significant
portion of revenues, risks
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related to intellectual property matters, marketad@ment of and demand for the Company's prodaats the length of the sales cycle could
have a material adverse effect on the Companysdial position, results of operations or cash fow

The Company has invested and expects tncento invest a significant portion of its resgaand development budget into the design o
ASIC devices, including the HyperCloud® memory sudbsm. This new design and the products it is ipoated into are subject to increased
risks as compared to the Company's existing pradiitte Company may be unable to achieve custonmandtet acceptance of the
HyperCloud® memory subsystem or other new prodactachieve such acceptance in a timely mannerCidmpany has experienced a
longer qualification cycle than anticipated with HyperCloud® memory subsystems, and as of DeceBthe?012 the product has not
generated significant revenue relative to the Camisanvestment in the product. The Company hagredtinto collaborative agreements with
both HP and IBM pursuant to which these OEMs haaperated with the Company to qualify HyperCloud®use in their respective
products. The qualifying OEMs have engaged andimoatto engage with the Company in joint marketind further product development
efforts. The Company and each of the OEMs have dtehfinancial and other resources toward theatdtation. There can be no assurance
that the efforts undertaken pursuant to eithehefdollaborative agreements will result in any mewenues for the Company. Further delays o
any failure in placing or qualifying this producititvHP, IBM or other potential customers would achedy impact the Company's results of
operations.

The Company's operations in the PRC argesuto various political, geographical and ecoronisks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in the PRC. These includeatsuhot limited to, (i) potential changes in ecoimoonditions in the region, (ii) managing a
local workforce that may subject the Company toeutainties or certain regulatory policies, (iii)actges in other policies of the Chinese
governmental and regulatory agencies, and (iv) gasun the laws and policies of the U.S. governmegarding the conduct of business in
foreign countries, generally, or in the PRC, intijgatar. Additionally, the Chinese government coidrthe procedures by which its local
currency, the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), is converirgto other currencies and by which dividends meyleclared or capital distributed for
the purpose of repatriation of earnings and invests If restrictions in the conversion of RMB otthe repatriation of earnings and
investments through dividend and capital distrifmutiestrictions are instituted, the Company's ap@ra and operating results may be
negatively impacted. Restricted net assets of aosidiary in the PRC totaled $0.6 million at DecemB1, 2011. The liabilities of the
Company's subsidiaries in the PRC exceeded it$saas@f December 29, 2012.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyi®ign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currefiogncial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab®btalance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigsband the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoe pexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usstgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gaiaslosses are included in determining net
loss. Transaction gains and losses were not signifin 2012 and 2011.
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Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculateditiglidg net loss by the weighted-average commomeshautstanding during the year, excluding
unvested shares issued pursuant to restricted ahearels under the Company's share-based compenpéits. Diluted net loss per share is
calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighdedrage shares and dilutive potential common shauwtstanding during the year. Dilutive
potential shares consist of dilutive shares issuapbn the exercise or vesting of outstanding stetions and restricted stock awards,
respectively, computed using the treasury stockatktin periods of losses, basic and diluted l@ssshare are the same, as the effect of stoc
options and unvested restricted share awards srpkasshare is anti-dilutive.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued new guidamcthe presentation of comprehensive income. Thegugdance eliminates the option to
present components of other comprehensive incomarasf the statement of changes in stockholaepsity and requires an entity to present
either one continuous statement of net income #melk comprehensive income or two separate, buteoonise statements. The guidance
relates only to presentation. The Company adoiiscjuidance in the first quarter of the year endedember 29, 2012. In February 2013, the
FASB issued new guidance on reporting reclassifinatout of accumulated other comprehensive incdris. new guidance will be effective
for the Company for the first quarter of the fisgahr ended December 28, 2013. Other than requadidgional disclosures, the Company doe:
not expect this new guidance to impact the Compgatgnsolidated financial statements.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

December 29 December 31

2012 2011
Raw materials $ 454 % 4,312
Work in proces: 70 237
Finished good 2,76¢€ 1,50¢

$ 7,380 $ 6,057
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated December 29 December 31
Useful Lives 2012 2011
Machinery and equipme 3-7yrs. $ 9,06( $ 8,13(
Leasehold improvemen * 1,851 1,815
Furniture and fixture 5 yrs. 457 457
Computer equipment and softw: 3-7yrs. 3,90: 3,36¢
15,27: 13,76¢

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (12,717 (10,999

$ 2,56( $ 2,771

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, orémaining lease term, whichever is shor

Included in property and equipment are tasseder capital leases with a cost of approxingeél5 million and $0.5 million and
accumulated amortization of approximately $0.2ipmlland $0.1 million at December 29, 2012 and Ddimm31, 2011, respectively.
Amortization of assets recorded under capital le&secluded as a component of depreciation anattération expense.

Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activityated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Beginning balanc $ 18¢ $ 194
Estimated cost of warranty claims charged to cb

sales 164 34z
Cost of actual warranty clain (11¢) (347)
Ending balanc: 23t 18¢
Less current portio (147) (95)
Long-term warranty obligation $ 94 $ 9

The allowance for warranty liabilities exped to be incurred within one year is includeé @®mponent of accrued expenses and other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidhbalance sheets. The allowance for warranty ltesilexpected to be incurred after one yeat
is included as a component of other liabilitieshiea accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compiatatof basic and diluted net loss per share, iriolyithe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdelil net loss per share (in thousands, excepghsee data):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Basic and diluted net loss per share

Numerator: Net los $ (13,98) $ (5,599
Denominator: Weighted-average common she

outstanding, basic and dilut 27,85: 25,08¢
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.50) $ (0.29)

The following table sets forth potentiadijutive common share equivalents, consisting afrel issuable upon the exercise or vesting of
outstanding stock options and restricted stock dsvaespectively, and the exercise of warrants peed using the treasury stock method.
These potential common shares have been excludedtfre diluted net loss per share calculations ala@their effect would be anti-dilutive
for the years then ended (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Common share equivaler 622 1,45¢

The above common share equivalents would baen included in the calculation of diluted @aga per share had the Company reportec
net income for the years then ended.
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Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemeuliatlosures of cash flow information and non-dasesting and financing activities (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ 332 $ 227
Income taxe: $ $ 4
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing activiti
Purchase of equipment through capitalized leasgatinns $ — 3 117
Debt financed acquisition of ass $ 18C $ 16¢
Purchase of equipment not paid for at the endef/&ar $ 15C $ 2
Unrealized losses from investments in marketaldersges $ — 3 4
Reversal of unrealized loss charged to other congm&ve incom:  $ 56 $ —

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

The following tables detail the fair valoeasurements within the fair value hierarchy ofGeenpany's investments in marketable
securities (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 29, 2012 Usii

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 29, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func $ 2,33t $ 2,33t $ — 3 —
Auction and variable floating
rate note: 41°F — — 41°F
Total $ 2,75: $ 2,33t $ — 9 41t
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Usii
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func $ 5,60 $ 5,60 $ — 3 —
Auction and variable floating
rate note: 444 — — 444
Total $ 6,04 $ 5,60C $ — % 444
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The following tables summarize the Compaagsets measured at fair value on a recurring hagiresented in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets at December 29, 2@lRecember 31, 2011:

Fair Value Measurements at December 29, 2012 Usii

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 29, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 2,33t $ 2,33t $ — $ —
Marketable securitie 41t — — 41t
Total assets measured at fa
value $ 2,75¢ $ 2,33t $ — % 41F
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Usii
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 5,60C $ 5,60C $ — $ —
Long-term marketable securitit 444 — — 444
Total assets measured at fa
value $ 6,04 $ 5,60( $ — $ 444

Fair value measurements using Level 3 mputhe table above relate to the Company's invessts in auction rate securities. The
disruptions in the credit market continue to adebraffect the liquidity and overall market for &oa rate securities. The Company has
estimated the fair value of these investments ugidigcounted cash flow model which included asgigng about the credit quality and
expected duration of the investments, along witltaliint rates affected for the general lack of dgyi These assumptions reflect the
Company's estimates about the reasonable assumptiariket participants would likely use in valuihg investments, including assumptions
about risk, developed based on the best informati@ilable in the circumstances.
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the izoy's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Beginning balanc $ 444 % 89C
Sales of availab-for-sale marketable securiti — (447
Realized loss included in other expense, (85) (59)
Unrealized loss transferred from other
comprehensive loss to earnir 56 59
Unrealized loss included in accumulated othet
comprehensive los — 4
Accrued interes — (D]
Ending balanc $ 41t % 444

Note 5—Investments in Marketable Securities
Investments in marketable securities comdithe following at December 29, 2012 and Decan®ie 2011 (in thousands):

December 29, 201,

Net
Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Auction and variable floating rate nof $ 418 $ — $ 41t

December 31, 201

Net
Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Auction and variable floating rate nof $ 50C $ (56) $ 444

At December 29, 2012, the Level 3 fair eatif the Company's auction rate securities consfdtse par value of $500,000 adjusted for a
realized loss of $85,000, recorded as other expeasén the accompanying consolidated statemeapefations for the year ended
December 29, 2012.

Realized gains and losses on the saleveSiments in marketable securities are determisetihe specific identification method. Other
than the sale of two of the Company's auction satairities, described below, there were no salesafable-for-sale securities prior to
maturity in 2012 or 2011.
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The following table provides the breakdasfrinvestments in marketable securities with urizeal losses at December 31, 2011 (in
thousands):

December 31, 201
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 months or
12 months greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Auction and variable floating ratenot $ — $ — $ 444 % (56)

As of December 31, 2011, the Company halliovestment that was in an unrealized loss positi

The following tables present the amortizest and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available
for-sale at December 29, 2012 and December 31, B@Tbntractual maturity (in thousands):

December 29, 201,

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Greater than two year: $ 41t $ 41F
December 31, 201
Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Greater than two year: $ 50C $ 444
* Comprised of auction rate securities which gatigthave interest rate reset dates of 90 dayssw thut final

contractual maturity dates in excess of 15 ye
Auction Rate Securities

Disruptions in the credit market continaeatlversely affect the liquidity and overall marfatauction rate securities. As of December 29
2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company held aestiment in a Baal rated auction rate debt seesidfia municipality with a total
purchase cost of $0.5 million. Subsequent to yadr the Company disposed of this auction rate sleturity for a realized loss of $85,000 and
therefore has recorded the loss at year end asy@pent impairment of this asset. An A3 rated addligation backed by pools of student lo
guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Education avithtal purchase cost of $0.5 million was dispasfeid June 2011 for a realized loss of
approximately $59,000.
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On October 31, 2009, the Company enteredarcredit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, ethivas amended on March 24, 2010,
June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010, May 11, 2011gud, 2011 and May 14, 2012 (as amended, thalltQxgreement"). Currently, the
Credit Agreement provides that the Company candvoup to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible accoustseivable, or (ii) $10.0 million. The
Company has the option to increase credit avaitatid $15.0 million at any time through the matyriate of September 30, 2014, subject to
the conditions of the Credit Agreement.

In connection with the September 30, 20b@rdment to the Credit Agreement, Silicon ValleywBaxtended a $1.5 million term loan
under the Credit Agreement, bearing interest at@aaf prime plus 2.00% ("Term Loan I"). The Comparas required to make monthly
principal payments of $41,666 over the 36 montmtef the loan, or $0.5 million annually. In May 2QSilicon Valley Bank extended an
additional $3.0 million term loan ("Term Loan lI'Dearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2.75% Tbmpany was required to make monthly
principal payments of $125,000 over the 24 montimtef the loan, or $1.5 million annually. In May 28 Silicon Valley Bank consolidated
both term loans and extended additional creditjlteg in a combined balance of $3.5 million (t&chsolidated Term Loan"). The
Consolidated Term Loan is payable in 36 installma&fit$97,222, beginning December 2012, and betaeest at a rate of prime plus 2.50%.
Interest is payable monthly from the date of fugdinrough final payoff of the loan.

Prior to the May 14, 2012 amendment, thed@rAgreement contained an overall sublimit of $1@illion to collateralize the Company's
contingent obligations under letters of credit atfier financial services. Amounts outstanding urideroverall sublimit reduced the amount
available pursuant to the Credit Agreement. Assaltef the May 14, 2012 amendment, letters of iti@dl other financial services are no
longer subject to borrowing base sublimits and dibreduce the amount that may be borrowed underethadving line of credit. Rather the
Company has an additional credit facility for ug®0 million in letters of credit through SeptemB8, 2014. At December 29, 2012, letter:
credit in the amount of $2.0 million were outstargli

The following table presents details oéneist expense related to borrowings on the lineseadfit, along with certain other applicable
information (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Interest expens $ 11z $ 35
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 1,48¢ $ 7,791
Outstanding borrowings on the revolving line ofdit — —
Amounts reserved under credit sublin — (2,029
Unutilized borrowing availability under the revahg line of credi $ 1,48¢ $ 5,77¢
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The Company calculates the borrowing abéitg under the revolving line of credit in arrsain accordance with the credit agreement
did not over-utilize the revolving line of creditthe time of borrowing. In October 2012, the Compeepaid the $2.8 million balance of
outstanding borrowings on the revolving line ofditén full.

All obligations under the Credit Agreeman secured by a first priority lien on the Compangngible and intangible assets. The Credit
Agreement subjects the Company to certain affineagind negative covenants, including financial cawgs with respect to the Company's
liquidity and tangible net worth and restrictionstbe payment of dividends. As of December 29, 2812 Company was in violation of the
tangible net worth covenant but remained in conmgkawith the quick ratio covenant.

On January 23, 2013, the Company entetedaifrorbearance Agreement with Silicon Valley Béhle "Forbearance Agreement"),
pursuant to which Silicon Valley Bank shall forb&am filing any legal action or instituting or emting any rights and remedies it may have
against the Company as a result of its violatiotheffinancial covenants until February 28. 2018.March 27, 2013, the effectiveness of the
Forbearance Agreement was extended until AprieBQ3, or an earlier date under certain conditiesash as the occurrence of an event of
default or a breach of the Forbearance Agreemena fesult of the Company's non-compliance withaa Icovenant and in accordance with
relevant accounting guidance, the Company recladdifie long-term portion of the Consolidated Té&mwan to current portion of long term
debt in the accompanying consolidated balance stseet December 29, 2012. The Company is currevithking with Silicon Valley Bank to
obtain a waiver of such non-compliance.

Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreemenpriheipal amount outstanding under the revolvimg Ishall accrue interest at a per annum rate
equal to the following (i) at all times that a Streline Period (as defined) is an effect, 1.75% altbe Prime Rate; and (ii) at all times that a
Streamline Period (as defined) is not in effect5% above the Prime Rate; which interest shalldyalple monthly. In addition, the reserve on
the revolving line increased from $1 million to$2lman thereby limiting the borrowing availabilitiurther. The Credit Agreement requires
payment of an unused line fee, as well as annixeesad early termination fees, as applicable.

Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreemenpriheipal amount outstanding under the term loaall gftcrue interest at a per annum rate ¢
to 3.25% above the Prime Rate; which interest sieflayable monthly.
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Long-term debt consists of the following {housands):

December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Obligations under capital leases (see Not $ 11€ $ 30C

Consolidated Term Loan, net of issuance cost o 3,37¢ —

Term Loan | (see Note | — 87t
Term Loan Il, net of issuance cost of $38 (see

Note 6) — 2,087

3,49: 3,26:

Less current portio (3,499 (2,149

$ — 3 1,11¢

The Company has purchased manufacturingamguter equipment through the use of varioustablgiases that mature at various dates
through October 2013 (see Note 9). The interessrah these leases vary between 6.0% and 6.8%.

Interest expense related to the Compaagig-term debt is presented in the following talnetfjousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Interest expens $ 234 $ 20z

Note 8—Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagy@mounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢ame
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purposes. Significant components of the Compareferced tax assets and liabilities are as follawshHousands):

December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Deferred tax asset

Reserves and allowanc $ 1,67C $ 1,99¢
State taxes, net of federal income tax bel 2 —
Depreciation and amortizatic 591 682
Other accrual 413 331
Compensatory stock options and rig 1,98¢ 2,15(
Other 45 25
Tax credit carryforward 2,66¢ 1,94¢
Operating loss carryforwal 17,23¢ 12,30¢
Foreign operating loss carryforwe 1,19: 1,031
Total deferred tax asse 25,81( 20,46¢

Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid expenst (20%) (199)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (20%) (199
Subtotal 25,60¢ 20,27(
Valuation allowanct (25,605 (20,27()
$ — % —

The Company evaluates whether a valuatiowance should be established against its defderedssets based on the consideration
available evidence using a "more likely than nédthglard. In making such judgments, significant \weig given to evidence that can be
objectively verified. As of December 29, 2012 anecBmber 31, 2011, a valuation allowance of $25lkomiand $20.3 million, respectively,
has been provided based on the Company's assedbiateihis more likely than not, that sufficieaixable income will not be generated to
realize the tax benefits of the temporary diffeencThe valuation allowance increased by approxity&5.3 million and $2.3 million during
the years ended December 29, 2012 and Decemb20B1, respectively, primarily related to the inaeén the net operating loss
carryforward.

At December 29, 2012, the Company has aqpadely $43.8 million of federal net operatingdg8NOL") carryforwards which begin to
expire in year 2029, and approximately $29.3 millgd state net operating loss carryforwards whiedi to expire in year 2017, and Federal
and state tax credit carryforwards of approximagdly3 million and $1.4 million, respectively at acber 29, 2012. Federal tax credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and statectaxlits carry forward indefinitely. In additiotne Company has approximately $9.1 million
of operating loss carryforwards in the PRC thatame® expire in 2012.

The deferred tax asset at December 29, 86&8 not include approximately $1.9 million anddaillion of excess tax benefits from
employee stock option exercises that are a comparfi¢he
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federal and state net operating loss carryovepeais/ely. The Company's stockholders' equity begamill be increased if and when such
excess tax benefits are ultimately realized.

For financial reporting purposes, loss befeenefit of income taxes includes the followitngnponents (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
United State: $ (12,640 $ (4,207)
Foreign (1,359 (1,44%)

$ (1399) $ (5,659

The Company's income tax benefit consikth@following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ (22) $ (55)
State 10 2
Total curren (12 (53)
Deferred:
Federal (4,33 (1,51¢)
State (764) (582)
Foreign (160 (157)
Change in valuation allowan: 5,25¢ 2,25¢
Total deferrec — —
Income tax benef $ (12 $ (53

A reconciliation of income taxes computgdapplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to th
income tax benefit is as follows:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
U.S. federal statutory te 35% 35%
Valuation allowanct (32 (25)
Loss from foreign subsidial (©)] 9
Effective income tax benefit ra 0% 1%
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following table summarizes the activityated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@iithousands):

Balance at January 1, 20 $ 77
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute lhitations (55)
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit: —

Balance at December 31, 2C 22
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute lhitations (22

Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit
Balance at December 29, 2C

[
|1 ]

Unrecognized tax benefits of tax positidhezcognized, would affect the Company's anntigotive tax rate.

The Company recognizes accrued interespandlties related to unrecognized tax benefits @amponent of tax expense. Interest and
penalty accruals were insignificant at December2292 and December 31, 2011.

The Company files tax returns with fedesgdte and foreign jurisdictions. The Company idamger subject to IRS or state examinations
for periods prior to 2007 although certain carryfard attributes that were generated prior to 20@y sitill be adjusted by the IRS.

Tax Holidays

In 2008, the Company began operating utadeholidays in the PRC, which are effective frammuary 2008 through December 2012.
Since the Company operated at a loss in the PROI& and 2011, it did not realize any benefit $acitnsolidated results of operations
attributable to the tax holidays.

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain of its fac#is@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingdeast expire at various dates through 2017
Rental expense, net of amortization of deferred gad sublease income, is presented in the follgtdble (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Rental expens $ 95¢ $ 1,06t

The Company also has acquired certain egemp through the use of various capital leasesesafrwvhich contain bargain purchase
options.
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A summary of future minimum payments undeth capital and operating lease commitments &eotmber 29, 2012 is as follows (in
thousands):

Capital Operating

Fiscal Year Leases Leases
2013 121 45¢
2014 — 24E
2015 — 23C
2016 — 22¢
2017 — 8C
Total minimum lease paymer 121 $ 1,23i
Less amount representing inter 3
Present value of future minimum lease payments (see

Note 7) $ 11€

Litigation and Patent Reexaminations

The Company owns numerous patents andre@¥ito enlarge and strengthen its patent porsfolinich cover different aspects of the
Company's technology innovations with various clatopes. The Company attempts to generate revgnsedling or licensing selected
patents or patent portfolios, and intends to vigehp enforce its patent rights against infringet®wefuse to license. The Company spends
substantial resources in various activities togubits intellectual property, including activitissdefend its patents against challenges made k
way of reexamination proceedings at the UnitedeSt®atent and Trademark Office ("USPTO"). Thesiwiies may continue for the
foreseeable future, without any guarantee thatosgping or future patent protection and litigatamivities will be successful. The Compan
also subject to litigation claims that it has inffed on the intellectual property of others, agaitsch the Company intends to defend
vigorously.

Litigation, whether or not eventually demildin the Company's favor or settled, is costly timé-consuming and could divert
management's attention and resources. Because pathure and inherent uncertainties of litigateimuld the outcome of any of such actions
be unfavorable, the Company's business, finanoiadition, results of operations or cash flows cdegdmaterially and adversely affected.
Additionally, the outcome of pending litigation,dathe related patent reexaminations, as well agatay in their resolution, could affect the
Company's ability to license its intellectual pragen the future or to protect against competitiothe current and expected markets for its
products.

Google Litigation

In May 2008, the Company initiated discassiwith Google, Inc. ("Google") based on informatand belief that Google had infringed
a U.S. patent owned by the Company, U.S. Paten?/289,386 ("the '386 patent"), which relates galheto technologies to implement rank
multiplication in memory modules. Preemptively, @tofiled a declaratory judgment lawsuit againgt @ompany in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of California (the "Noe District Court"), seeking a declaration thab@le did not infringe the '386 patent and that
the '386 patent
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was invalid. The Company filed a counterclaim fafringement of the '386 patent by Google. Claimstarction proceedings were held in
November 2009, and the Company prevailed on evieputed claim construction issue. In June 2010Cbmpany filed motions for summa
judgment of patent infringement and dismissal ob@e's affirmative defenses. In May 2010, Googtpuessted and was later grantecinter
PartesReexamination of the '386 patent by the USPTO.rékgamination proceedings are described below Nidrthern District Court
granted Google's request to stay the litigatiordpenresult of the reexamination, and thereforert@suled on the Company's motions for
summary judgment.

In December 2009, the Company filed a gatdringement lawsuit against Google in the NorthBistrict Court, seeking damages and
injunctive relief based on Google's infringementlo$. Patent No. 7,619,912 ("the '912 patent") clis related to the '386 patent and relates
generally to technologies to implement rank muiltgion. In February 2010, Google answered the Gomis complaint and asserted
counterclaims against the Company seeking a déiclarthat the patent is invalid and not infringadd claiming that the Company committed
fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach ofraot based on Netlist's activities in the JEDEaDdard-setting organization. The
counterclaim seeks unspecified compensatory damagesuals have not been recorded for loss contioigs related to Google's counterclaimn
because it is not probable that a loss has beenre@ttand the amount of any such loss cannot l@nebly estimated. In October 2010, Gor
requested and was later grantedraar PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO.rébgamination proceedings are described
below. In connection with the reexamination requist Northern District Court granted the Compang &oogle's joint request to stay the
'912 patent infringement lawsuit against Googlel timé completion of the reexamination proceedings.

Inphi Litigation

In September 2009, the Company filed argatdringement lawsuit against Inphi Corporatidmphi") in the U.S. District Court for the
Central District of California (the "Central DigttiCourt"). The complaint, as amended, allegesltigti is contributorily infringing and
actively inducing the infringement of U.S. pateotened by the Company, including the '912 paters. Patent No. 7,532,537 ("the
'537 patent"), which relates generally to memoryuaies with load isolation and memory domain tratishacapabilities, and U.S. Patent
No. 7,636,274 ("the '274 patent"), which is relaiethe '537 patent and relates generally to lsathiion and memory domain translat
technologies. The Company is seeking damages @ntttive relief based on Inphi's use of the Com{mpsitented technology. Inphi denied
infringement and claimed that the three patentsreadid. In April 2010, Inphi requested but waseladeniednter PartesReexaminations of
the '912, '537 and '274 patents by the USPTO. e 2010, Inphi submitted new requests and was dasgrtednter PartesReexaminations of
the '912, '537 and '274 patents by the USPTO. @&eamination proceedings are described below. inection with the reexamination
requests, Inphi filed a motion to stay the patafringement lawsuit with the Central District Cquathich was granted. The Central District
Court has requested that the Company notify itiwidme week of any action taken by the USPTO imeation with the reexamination
proceedings, at which time the Central District @onay decide to maintain or lift the stay.
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Smart Modular Litigation

On September 10, 2012, Smart Modular, (If8MOD") filed a patent infringement lawsuit agditise Company in the U.S. District Court
for the Eastern District of California (the "Eastdistrict Court"). The complaint alleges that tempany willfully infringes and actively
induces the infringement of six claims of a U.Sepanewly issued to SMOD, U.S. Patent No. 8,250 2fthe '295 patent"), and seeks dami
and injunctive relief. SMOD also filed a motion fareliminary injunction and a memorandum in supdthe motion on the same day of the
complaint. The Company filed a request for reexatiam of the '295 patent with the USPTO on Septerbe2012, setting forth six different
combinations of prior art that would render thea&serted claims of the '295 patent unpatentable Company also filed an answer to SM(
complaint with the Eastern District Court on Octolb&, 2012, in which the Company denies infringehudrihe '295 patent, claims that the
'295 patent is invalid and unenforceable, and &sgaeset of counterclaims against SMOD. SMOD fiteation to dismiss, motion to strike and
motion for partial judgment on the pleadings on dimber 1, 2012. The Company filed briefs to oppdd©B's motions on November 29,
2012 and November 30, 2012.

On December 7, 2012, the USPTO grante€thmpany's request for the reexamination of the {286nt, and issued an Office Action
rejecting all of the six asserted claims over tiedgferent combinations of prior art set forth the Company in its request. On December 13,
2012, the Company moved to stay litigation pendasult of reexamination. The Company's motion &y sind SMOD's motion for prelimine
injunction and motion to dismiss has been submittigkdout oral argument.

On February 7, 2013, Smart Modular filegsponse to the Office Action in the reexaminatbthe '295 patent. Since the response
appeared to be defective, Netlist filed a petitostrike the response with the USPTO on Februgr2@13. Smart Modular filed a
supplemental response to the same Office ActioRebruary 15, 2013. Netlist filed another petitiorstrike the supplemental response due to
its apparent defects on February 21, 2013. On M&38¢l2013, the USPTO issued a Notice of Defectaedp, in which the USPTO found
Smart Modular's responses, both the initial filargl the supplemental filing, to be improper, anthlvsesponses were expunged from the
record. The USPTO gave Smart Modular 15 days tnguimother response. Netlist will have 30 dayBléocomments after Smart Modular's
corrected response is filed.

Accruals have not been recorded for losgingencies related to the SMOD litigation becatisgnot probable that a loss has been
incurred and the amount of any such loss cannotdmonably estimated.

'386 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in May 2010, Googlguested and was later grantedter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent by the USF
In October 2010, SMOD requested and was later gdaauntinter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent. The reexaminatiequested by
Google and SMOD were merged by the USPTO into @lesiproceeding. In April 2011, a Ndfinal Action was issued by the USPTO, rejec
all claims in the patent. In July 2011, the Compeesponded by amending or canceling some of thesladding new claims, and making
arguments as to the validity
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of the rejected claims in view of cited referend&sth Google and SMOD filed their comments to tlmmpany's response in October 2011. In
October 2012, the USPTO issued an Action Closimg&aution ("ACP") rejecting all 60 claims. The Canp filed a response to the ACP on

December 3, 2012. Thus, the reexamination of 1@ ff&tent remains pending and will continue in atance with established procedures for
merged reexamination proceedings.

'912 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested but was later deniediater PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPT!(
June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request and viaisdeanted ainter PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO ejpt&nber
2010, the USPTO confirmed the patentability ofiftlf-one claims of the '912 patent. In October @0Google and SMOD each filed and were
later granted requests for reexamination of th2 [gdtent. In February 2011, the USPTO merged thkilitGoogle and SMOD '912
reexaminations into a single proceeding. In an &1 Non-Final Action in the merged reexaminatwaceeding, the USPTO rejected
claims 1-20 and 22-51 and confirmed the patentghifi claim 21 of the '912 patent. In July 201% ompany responded by amending or
canceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the validity of the rejdatlaims in view of cited references.
Inphi, Google, and SMOD filed their comments on @@mmpany's response in August 2011. In October 20B1USPTO mailed a second Non-
Final Action confirming the patentability of twentyaims of the '912 patent, including claims thatrevadded in the reexamination process. In
January 2012, the Company responded by amendicanceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the
validity of the rejected claims in view of citedeeences. Google, Inphi and SMOD filed their comtaea the Company's response in Febri
2012. The USPTO determined that SMOD's comments defective, and issued a notice to SMOD to reetifgi refile the comments within
15 days from the mailing date of the notice. SM@&xdfcorrected comments and a petition for the USRJ withdraw the notice in March
2012. The USPTO issued a non-final Office ActionNmvember 13, 2012 maintaining the patentabilitynainy key claims while rejecting
some claims that were determined to be patentablequsly. The Company filed a response to thed®ffiction on January 14, 2013. The
requesters filed their comments on February 14320he reexamination of the '912 patent remainslipgnand will continue in accordance
with established procedures for merged reexamingtioceedings.

'627 Patent Reexamination

In September 2011, SMOD filed a requestdexamination of U.S. Pat. No. 7,864,627 ("th& 'patent") issued to the Company on
January 4, 2011. The '627 patent is related ttte patent. In November 2011, the USPTO grante@BM request for reexamination of the
'627 patent and concurrently issued a Non-Finaloiatonfirming the patentability of three claims.February 2012, the Company responded
by amending or canceling some of the claims, addew claims, and making arguments as to the valadithe rejected claims in view of cit
references. SMOD filed its comments to the Comparggponse in March 2012. The USPTO determinedS&D's comments were
defective and issued a notice in April 2012 to SMDectify and refile the comments within 15 déysn the mailing date of the notice.
SMOD filed corrected comments and a petition fer tlFSPTO to withdraw the notice in April 2012. ThBRITO posted an Office Action on
December 19, 2012, confirming one claim and rajecthe rest of the claims in the '627 patent. Tom@any filed a response to the Office
Action on March 19, 2013. The reexamination of ‘88 patent remains pending and will continue icoagance with establishédter Partes
Reexamination procedures.
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'5637 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested and was later deniedrater PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO.
In June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request andatasgranted amter PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO. In
September 2010, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Actiarfirming the patentability of four claims. In ©ber 2010, the Company responded
by amending or canceling some of the claims, addew claims, and making arguments as to the valadithe rejected claims in view of citi
references. Inphi filed its comments on the Comfsamgsponse in January 2011. In June 2011, the OS&5ted an Action Closing
Prosecution ("ACP") which reconfirmed the paterltgbof the four claims. In August 2010, the Compaasponded by amending some of the
claims and making arguments as to the validitthefrejected claims in view of cited referenceshldiped its comments on the Company's
response in September 2011. The USPTO issued & &iéippeal Notice ("RAN") in February 2012, in vehi the claim rejections were
withdrawn, thus confirming the patentability of sikty (60) claims in view of all the previouslytsuitted comments by both Inphi and the
Company. Inphi filed a notice of appeal in Marcii20and an appeal brief on May 8, 2012. In respaheeUSPTO issued a Notice of
Defective Appeal Brief. Inphi filed a correctivepsgal brief on May 31, 2012, and Netlist filed iply brief to the corrected Inphi appeal brief
on July 2, 2012. The Examiner now has an oppostdaitespond to Inphi's corrected appeal brief a as Netlist's reply brief. If the
Examiner maintains his position, the Company aediBPTO examiner will jointly defend the patenaihearing with the USPTO, in
accordance with established proceduredritar PartesReexamination.

'274 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested and was later deniedrater PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO.
In June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request andatasgranted amter PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO. In
September 2011, the USPTO issued a Rval Action, confirming the patentability of si¥aims. The Company has responded by amendi
canceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the validity of the rejdatlaims in view of cited references.
Inphi filed its comments on the Company's respamd¢ovember 2011. The USPTO issued an ACP in Maad?, which confirmed the
patentability of one hundred and four (104) claimsiew of all the previously submitted commentshmth Inphi and the Company. The PTO
subsequently issued a Right of Appeal Notice ore Ry 2012. This Notice triggered Inphi's righttas losing party to file a Notice of Appeal
by July 23, 2012 and file an appeal brief by Sepien23, 2012, and Inphi filed both on their respectiue dates. The Company responded to
Inphi's appeal brief by filing a reply brief on @ber 24, 2012. The Examiner now has an opporttaitgspond to the appeal brief and the
reply brief. If the Examiner maintains his posititine Company and the USPTO examiner will joinéeshd the patent in a hearing with the
USPTO, in accordance with established procedureafer PartesReexamination.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlhenpany has made certain indemnities, commitmerdggaarantees pursuant to which it may
required to make payments in relation to certain
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transactions. These include (i) intellectual properdemnities to the Company's customers and $iees in connection with the use, sales
and/or license of Company products; (ii) indemsitie vendors and service providers pertainingdors based on the Company's negligence
or willful misconduct; (iii) indemnities involvinghe accuracy of representations and warrantiesritaio contracts; (iv) indemnities to directors
and officers of the Company to the maximum extemtrtted under the laws of the State of Delawand; @) certain real estate leases, under
which the Company may be required to indemnify propowners for environmental and other liabilitiaad other claims arising from the
Company's use of the applicable premises. Theiduraf these indemnities, commitments and guarantadges and, in certain cases, may be
indefinite. The majority of these indemnities, coitments and guarantees do not provide for any éiticib of the maximum potential for futu
payments the Company could be obligated to makstoHi¢ally, the Company has not been obligated a&arsignificant payments for these
obligations, and no liabilities have been recorftedhese indemnities, commitments and guarantetfsei accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

The Company's authorized capital includ&d0,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, wiihravalue of $0.001 per share. No shares
were outstanding at December 29, 2012 or Decenhe2(® 1.

Common Stock

In November 2011, the Company enteredargales agreement with Ascendiant Capital Marke@ (“{Ascendiant"), whereby shares
with a total value of up to $10.0 million may béeesed for sale to the public at the discretiomahagement at a price equal to the current
market price in an "at-the-market" offering as defl in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 193&ifmy 2012 and 2011, the Company
received net proceeds of approximately $3.9 mildod $1.9 million, respectively, raised through shée of 1,312,669 and 697,470 shares of
common stock, respectively. The sales agreemehtAgitendiant expires in November 2014.

On December 20, 2012, the Company raisessgoroceeds of $1.5 million in a registered putstiering ("Offering") of its securities. The
Offering closed on December 26, 2012, and the Compeceived net proceeds of $1.3 million after dgithg commissions and offering costs.
The Offering resulted in the issuance of 1,685 8%res of common stock and warrants to purchase aip aggregate of 2,275,282 shares of
the Company's common stock, which represents 133#emumber of shares issued and sold in the @ffeEach warrant grants the holder
the right to purchase one share of the Companysrmmn stock at an exercise price of $0.89 per stuatleexpires in June 2018. These warrant
become exercisable 181 days following the Decer@b6eR012 issuance date.

During 2012 and 2011, the Company cancel®@31 and 37,422 shares of common stock, respégtivalued at approximately $64,000
and $78,000, respectively, in connection with liigation to holders of restricted stock to withthdhe number of shares required to satisfy th
holders' tax liabilities in connection with the tiag of such shares.
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The Company is incorporated in the statBelware, and as such, is subject to various Eetewhich may restrict the payment of
dividends or purchase of treasury shares.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based compensatiandawutstanding pursuant to the Amended and Res2800 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2000 Plan") and the Amended and Restated 2006¥Ebgentive Plan (the "2006 Plan™), under whickasiety of option and direct stock-
based awards may be granted to employees and namerap of the Company. Further grants under th@ Z0a&n were suspended upon the
adoption of the 2006 Plan. In addition to awardslenpursuant to the 2006 Plan, the Company periliglisaues inducement grants outside
2006 Plan to certain new hires.

Subject to certain adjustments, as of Ddmard9, 2012, the Company was authorized to issnaxamum of 5,405,566 shares of commor
stock pursuant to awards under the 2006 Plan. mhatmum number will automatically increase on tingtfday of each subsequent calendar
year by the lesser of (i) 5.0% of the number ofsb@f common stock that are issued and outstaradirad the first day of the calendar ye
and (ii) 1,200,000 shares of common stock, sulijeatljustment for certain corporate actions. Atémweber 29, 2012, the Company had
820,635 shares available for grant under the 20&®. At December 29, 2012, an additional 8,750esharere reserved for issuance upon
exercise of inducement grants. Options granted uh@e2000 Plan, the 2006 Plan and outside theyeigentive plans primarily vest at a rate
of at least 25% per year over four years and exXjfirgears from the date of grant. Restricted stveérds vest in eight equal increments at
intervals of approximately six months from the daftgrant.
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A summary of the Company's common stocloopdctivity is presented below (shares in thousgnd

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)
Options outstandir—January 1, 201 4,63 $ 2.57
Options grante: 1,45¢ 2.21
Options exercise (435) 0.47
Options cancelle (28€) 2.8¢
Options outstandir—December 31, 201 5,36¢ 2.62
Options grante: 1,667 3.4C
Options exercise (1,032) 0.67
Options cancelle (1,257 2.8:
Options outstandi—December 29, 201 475. $  3.2Z 6.3 $ 197
Options exercisab—December 29, 201 3,10 $ 3.4: 5C % 17t
Options exercisable and expected to
ves—December 29, 201 453: $ $3.2¢ 6.2 $ 19€

The following table summarizes informatedpout stock options outstanding and exercisableaember 29, 2012:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Contractual Average
shares Life Exercise shares Life Exercise
Exercise Price Range (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) (in years) Price
$0.20- $1.00 524 54 $ 0.37 46¢ 532 $ 0.37
$1.01- $3.00 2,20¢ 6.3 $ 2.1F 1,46¢ 53 ¢§ 2.1f
$3.01- $5.00 1,09¢ 8.8 $ 3.54 247 77 $ 3.5C
$5.01- $8.45 922 3€ $ 6.9¢ 922 3€ $ 6.9¢
4,752 6.3 $ 3.2Z 3,10z 5C $ 3.4z
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A summary of the Company's restricted stmekrds is presented below (shares in thousands):

Restricted Stock
Qutstanding

Weighted-

Average

Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
Balance outstanding at January 1, 2 42€¢ $ 3.4¢€
Restricted stock grante 24 1.51
Restricted stock veste (11¢) 3.47
Restricted stock forfeite (13 3.31
Balance outstanding at December 31, 2 31¢ $ 3.32
Restricted stock grante — —
Restricted stock veste (113 3.37
Restricted stock forfeite (48) 3.22
Balance outstanding at December 29, 2 15¢ $ 3.3Z

The following table presents details of #ssumptions used to calculate the weighted-aveyiege date fair value of common stock
options granted by the Company:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011

Expected term (in year 6.4 6.C
Expected volatility 127% 135%
Risk-free interest rat 1.1€% 2.172%
Expected dividend — —
Weightec-average grant date fair value per st $ 3.0 $ 2.01
Grant date fair value of options ves $ 1,48: $ 1,26¢
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousar $ 261C $ 96C

The weighted-average fair value per shétherestricted stock granted in 2012 and 2011 eaésulated based on the fair market value o
the Company's common stock on the respective gi@nt. The grant date fair value of restrictedist@sted was $0.3 and $0.2 million in 2!
and 2011, respectively.

At December 29, 2012, the amount of unehsteck-based compensation currently estimatee #xpensed from 2013 through 2015
related to unvested common stock options and céstiristock awards is approximately $3.6 milliort, afeestimated forfeitures. The weighted-
average period over which the unearned stock-bem@pensation is expected to be recognized is appadely 2.6 years. If there are any
modifications or cancellations of the underlyingrested awards, the Company may be required toerete] increase or cancel any remaining
unearned stock-based compensation expense orateleuld record additional expense. Future shaded compensation expense and unei
stock-based compensation will increase to the éxtert the Company grants additional common stqatlons or other stock-based awards.
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Warrants

On December 26, 2012 the Company, in aagoniwith raising capital through a registered ljubffering, issued warrants to purchase
to an aggregate of 2,275,282 shares of the Congpaogimon stock, see above. A summary of the waa@tivity is presented below:

Weighted-

Number of Average

Shares Exercise

(in thousands) Price

Warrants outstandi—December 31, 201 — $ —
Warrant grante: 2,27¢ 0.8¢
Warrants exercise — —
Warrants outstandi—December 29, 201 227 % 0.8¢

There were no warrants exercised or caedéfl the year ended December 29, 2012. Warramssamaling at December 29, 2012 were
classified as equity.

Note 11—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined imrtion plan. Employees are eligible to participiat¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppdits may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojest to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his oerhcontributions and investment earnings. The Campaay make matching contributions on
contributions of a participant on a discretionaagils. In fiscal 2012, the Company adopted a limitedching contribution policy and made
approximately $0.1 million in contributions to gaipants in this plan in the year ended Decembe2%2. No contributions have been made
in the year ended December 31, 2011.

Note 12—Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company's product sales have histdyibalen concentrated in a small number of custondérs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Comparstsales as follows:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Customer A 60% 70%
Customer E 18% *

* less than 10% of net sal
Sales of the Company's NVvault™ productsesented 51% and 66% of net sales in 2012 and 2011
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The Company's accounts receivable are oorated with two customers at December 29, 201&semting approximately 41% and 24%
of aggregate gross receivables. At December 311, 2fife customer represented approximately 80%greggte gross receivables. A
significant reduction in sales to, or the inabilitycollect receivables from, a significant customauld have a material adverse impact on the
Company. The Company mitigates risk with foreigeeieables by purchasing comprehensive foreign treslirance.

The Company's purchases have historicalnlzoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fdlowing table sets forth purchases fr
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparotal purchases as follows:

Year Ended
December 29 December 31
2012 2011
Supplier A 19% 24%
Supplier B 17% *

* less than 10% of total purchas

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmmponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductjanterruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anahtverse effect on the Company.

Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable sagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications ntarkehe Company evaluates financial performanca company-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's inddional sales relate to shipments of productssttJi. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third- party hubs. Net sales derived fetripments to international destinations, primaigifHong Kong (including foreign subsidiaries
of customers that are headquartered in the U&hjesented approximately 70% and 83% of the Compaey sales in 2012 and 2011,
respectively. All of the Company's net sales tedeatve been denominated in U.S. dollars.

As of December 29, 2012 and December 311 28pproximately $1.5 million of the Company'sddived assets, net of depreciation and
amortization, were located outside the U.S., pritpar the PRC. Substantially all other long-livadsets were located in the U.S.

Note 14—Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent etheatgyh the filing date of this Form 10-K, andetatined that no subsequent events that
have occurred that would require recognition ingbesolidated financial statements or disclosuithénnotes thereto other than as discussed
the accompanying notes.
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Three Months Ended
December 29 September 29 June 30, March 31,

2012 2012 2012 2012
Net sales $ 596: $ 6,397 $ 10,55. $ 13,96:
Cost of sale: 5,12¢ 6,00: 7,81« 8,531
Gross profit 837 38¢ 2,73¢ 5,43¢
Operating expense

Research and developm 2,61¢ 2,61°¢ 3,77( 3,84:

Selling, general and administrati 2,09¢ 2,491 2,871 2,60¢

Total operating expens: 4,71¢ 5,112 6,641 6,451

Operating los! (3,879 (4,729 (3,909 (1,015
Other income (expense

Interest income (expense), | (90) (98 (79 (71)

Other expense, n (14€) 4 3 5

Total other income (expense), | (23€) (99 (7€) (66)

Loss before provision (benefit) for income

taxes (4,115 (4,81¢) (3,979 (2,087
Provision (benefit) for income tax ()] 4 1 —
Net loss $ (4,09¢) $ (4,822 $ (3,980 $ (1,08
Net loss per common shal

Basic and dilutet $ (0.149 $ (019 $ (019 $ (0.09
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding

Basic and dilutet 28,27¢ 28,19¢ 28,11 26,72¢
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Three Months Ended

December 31 October 1, July 2, April 2,
2011 2011 2011 2011

Net sales $ 16,38 $ 16,347 $ 16,00: $ 12,00(
Cost of sale: 10,38¢ 10,81¢ 11,06 8,19¢
Gross profit 5,99 5,52¢ 4,93 3,80¢
Operating expense

Research and developm 3,50z 3,98: 3,75¢ 3,68¢

Selling, general and administrati 2,69/ 2,511 2,58¢ 2,917

Total operating expens: 6,19¢ 6,49¢ 6,33¢ 6,601

Operating income (los! (209 (96€) (1,409 (2,799
Other income (expense

Interest income (expense), | (81) (72 (50 (25)

Other expense, n 2 1 (59 —

Total other income (expense), | (79 (71) (109 (25

Loss before provision (benefit) for income ta (283) (2,039 (1,510 (2,827
Provision (benefit) for income tax (56) 2 1 —
Net loss $ (227) $ (1,039 $ (1,51) $ (2,82)
Net loss per common shal

Basic and diluter $ (0.0) $ (0.0H $ (0.0 $ (0.1
Weighte-average common shares outstand

Basic and dilutet 28,30¢ 25,02¢ 24,98¢ 24,88:

Each of the Company's quarters in fiscdl2énd 2011 is comprised of 13 weeks
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Exhibit 10.32

FORBEARANCE
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This FORBEARANCE to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Agreemeig’gntered into this 27 day of March 2013, by aetiieer
Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) and Netlist, Inc., adlaware corporation (“Borrower”).

RECITALS

A. Bank and Borrower have entered into that certaimnLand Security Agreement with an Effective Dat®©ofober 31, 2009
(as the same may from time to time be amended,fraddsupplemented or restated, the “Loan Agreetfhe®ank has extended credit to
Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loane&gnent.

B. Borrower acknowledges that Borrower is currentlyl@fault of the Loan Agreement for failing to complith the Tangible
Net Worth Financial Covenant set forth in Sectio®(I6) of the Loan Agreement for each of the cormgl&periods ending October 31, 20
November 30, 2012, December 31, 2012 and Janua®03B and such failure to comply constitutes aarEwf Default (th¢‘Existing
Defaults”).

C. Borrower has requested that Bank forbear from ésiacgits rights and remedies against Borrowerrduthe Forbearance
Period (as defined in Section 2.1 below). AlthoBgink is under no obligation to do so, Bank isinglto forbear from exercising its rights ¢
remedies against Borrower through the ForbearaadedPon the terms and conditions set forth in fdseement, so long as Borrower
complies with the terms, covenants and conditiedasth in this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and otj@od and valuable consideration, the receiptaatedjuacy
of which is hereby acknowledged, and intendingeddgally bound, the parties hereto agree as fatlow

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in thiseggnent shall have the meanings given to themein.dan
Agreement.
2. Forbearance.
2.1 Forbearance Period. Subject to all the terms and conditions setftwrein, Bank shall forbear from filing any

legal action or instituting or enforcing any riglatsd remedies it may have against Borrower fronfiribearance Effective Date (as defined in
Section 11) until the date (the “Forbearance Teatidm Date”) which is the earliest to occur of £&giril 30, 2013, (b) the failure after the date
hereof of Borrower to comply with any of the terorsundertakings of this Agreement, (c) the occureeafter the date hereof of any Event of
Default (other than the Existing Defaults), (d) thege that Borrower joins in, assists, cooperateparticipates as an adverse party or adverse
witness in any suit or other proceeding againstkBafating to




the Obligations in connection with or related ty afithe transactions contemplated by any of thewotoan Documents. Except as expressly
provided herein, this Agreement does not constauaiver or release by Bank of any Obligationsfahe Existing Defaults or any other
present or future Event of Default whether or notwn to Bank. If Borrower does not comply with teems of this Agreement, Bank shall
have no further obligations under this Agreemet stmall be permitted to exercise at such time &hts and remedies against Borrower as it
deems appropriate in its sole and absolute disecretBorrower understands that Bank has made nonitonent and is under no obligation
whatsoever to grant any additional extensionsnoétat the end of the Forbearance Period. Thepgned between the Forbearance Effective
Date and the Forbearance Termination Date is exldor herein as the “Forbearance Period.”

2.2 Forbearance Terms. Repayment and performance of all Obligations afr8wver to Bank under the Loan
Agreement and this Agreement shall be secureddZtilateral.

3. Amendments to Loan Agreement.
3.1 Modified Interest Rate. Section 2.3(a) of the Loan Agreement is hereby a®eé1in its entirety to read as follows:
(a) Interest Rate
@ Advances Subject to Section 2.3(b), the principal amaurtstanding under the Revolving Line

shall accrue interest at a per annum rate equbktfollowing: (i) at all times that a Streamlinerfdd is in effect, on
and three-quarters of one percentage points (1.2%)e the Prime Rate; and (ii) at all times th&tr@aamline
Period is not in effect, two and three-quartersrd percentage points (2.75%) above the Prime Réieh interest
shall be payable monthly in accordance with Se@i&(f) below.

(i) Term Loan. Subject to Section 2.3(b), the principal amaautstanding under the Term Loan
shall accrue interest at a per annum rate equbtée and one-quarter percentage points (3.25%jeathe Prime
Rate, which interest shall be payable monthly icoadance with Section 2.3(f) below.

3.2 Modified Definition of Borrowing Base. The definition of “Borrowing Base” set forth in Sem 13.1 of the Loan
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to esafibllows:

“ Borrowing Base” is (a) 80% (the “A/R Advance Rate” and also an ‘Advance Rate”) of Eligible Accounts
minus (b) the amount of Two Million Dollars ($2,0000) (the




“ BB Blocked Amount”), as determined by Bank from Borrower’'s most récEransaction Report; provided,
however, that Bank may decrease any one or mdreedhdvance Rates in its good faith business juddgroased on
events, conditions, contingencies, or risks whachdetermined by Bank, may adversely affect Cobihter

Borrower.
4, Limitation of Forbearance.
4.1 This Agreement is effective for the purposes sehfberein and shall be limited precisely as wnittad shall not be

deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waivaodification of any other term or conditionafy Loan Document, or (b) otherwise
prejudice any right or remedy which Bank may nowehar may have in the future under or in connectith any Loan Document.

4.2 This Agreement shall be construed in connectioh witd as part of the Loan Documents, and all tecorgitions,
representations, warranties, covenants and agrésmsetforth in the Loan Documents are herebyiedtidind confirmed and shall remain in
force and effect.

5. [Omitted].
6. Representations and Warranties. Borrower represents and warrants to Bank asviatio
6.1 (a) the representations and warranties containéteihoan Documents are true, accurate and comipletée

material respects as of the date hereof (excdpetextent such representations and warrantieterelan earlier date, in which case they are
true and correct as of such date), and (b) no EveDefault other than the Existing Defaults hasuwoed and is continuing;

6.2 Borrower has the power and authority to executedstider this Agreement and to perform its obligat under the
Loan Agreement;

6.3 The organizational documents of Borrower delivareBank on the Effective Date remain true, accuaaie
complete and have not been amended, supplementedtated and are and continue to be in full fame effect;

6.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Agreent and the performance by Borrower of its obiliges unde
the Loan Agreement have been duly authorized biyeslessary action on the part of Borrower;

6.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Agreent and the performance by Borrower of its obiliges unde
the Loan Agreement do not and will not contravejeafly law or regulation binding on or affectingr®aver, (b) any contractual restriction
with a Person binding on Borrower, (c) any ordedgment or decree of any court or other governatemtpublic body or authority, or
subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, or (d¢ thrganizational documents of Borrower;




6.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Agreent and the performance by Borrower of its obiliges unde
the Loan Agreement do not require any order, cans@proval, license, authorization or validatidnar filing, recording or registration with,
or exemption by any governmental or public bodwaathority, or subdivision thereof, binding on eitfB®rrower, except as already has been
obtained or made; and

6.7 This Agreement has been duly executed and delivgrégbrrower and is the binding obligation of Bomer,
enforceable against Borrower in accordance witteitsis, except as such enforceability may be lidnite bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or othensar laws of general application and equitablexgiples relating to or affecting creditors’
rights.

7. Prior Agreement. The Loan Documents are hereby ratified and ireaéd and shall remain in full force and effectist
Agreement is not a novation and the terms and tiongiof this Agreement shall be in addition to angplemental to all terms and conditions
set forth in the Loan Documents. In the eventryf eonflict or inconsistency between this Agreeneemd the terms of such documents, the
terms of this Agreement shall be controlling, huttsdocument shall not otherwise be affected origtgs therein impaired. As of the date
hereof, the aggregate outstanding principal amowg to Bank is $3,111,111.

8. Release by Borrower.

8.1 FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION , Borrower hereby forever relieves, releases, aschdrges
Bank and its present or former employees, officdirectors, agents, representatives, attorneyseaok of them, from any and all claims, de
liabilities, demands, obligations, promises, aatgeements, costs and expenses, actions and cd@sdi®n, of every type, kind, nature,
description or character whatsoever, whether knomumknown, suspected or unsuspected, absolutentingent, arising out of or in any
manner whatsoever connected with or related t@ fagtcumstances, issues, controversies or claxissrgy or arising from the beginning of
time through and including the date of executiothid Agreement (collectively “Released ClaimsWithout limiting the foregoing, the
Released Claims shall include any and all liak#itor claims arising out of or in any manner whatso connected with or related to the Loan
Documents, the Recitals hereto, any instrumentgeagents or documents executed in connection wigtothe foregoing or the origination,
negotiation, administration, servicing and/or enésnent of any of the foregoing.

8.2 In furtherance of this release, Borrower expreasknowledges and waives any and all rights undeti®e1542 of
the California Civil Code, which provides as follsw




“ A general releasaloes not extend to claims which the creditor da#know or suspect to exist in his or her favothattime of
executing the release, which if known by him or imeist have materially affected his or her settlemeéth the debtor.” (Emphasis
added.)

8.3 By entering into this release, Borrower recognibes no facts or representations are ever absploggtain and it
may hereafter discover facts in addition to oratiéht from those which it presently knows or bedeto be true, but that it is the intention of
Borrower hereby to fully, finally and forever settind release all matters, disputes and differekoesvn or unknown, suspected or
unsuspected; accordingly, if Borrower should subsatly discover that any fact that it relied uponrentering into this release was untrue, or
that any understanding of the facts was incoriatrower shall not be entitled to set aside thisage by reason thereof, regardless of any
claim of mistake of fact or law or any other circgstances whatsoever. Borrower acknowledges tignitt relying upon and has not relied
upon any representation or statement made by Bahk@spect to the facts underlying this releaswith regard to any of such party’s rights
or asserted rights.

8.4 This release may be pleaded as a full and comgéfense and/or as a cross-complaint or countercagimmst any
action, suit, or other proceeding that may be tatgd, prosecuted or attempted in breach of thésase. Borrower acknowledges that the
release contained herein constitutes a materiatcement to Bank to enter into this Agreement, &ad Bank would not have done so but for
Bank’s expectation that such release is valid aridreeable in all events.

8.5 Borrower hereby represents and warrants to BartkBamk is relying thereon, as follows:

€)) Except as expressly stated in this Agreement, @eBlank nor any agent, employee or representafive o
Bank has made any statement or representationrto\Ber regarding any fact relied upon by Borroweentering into this Agreement.

(b) Borrower has made such investigation of the faettaning to this Agreement and all of the matters
appertaining thereto, as it deems necessary.

(c) The terms of this Agreement are contractual ancarmoere recital.

(d) This Agreement has been carefully read by Borrotter contents hereof are known and understood by
Borrower, and this Agreement is signed freely, aittout duress, by Borrower.

(e) Borrower represents and warrants that it is the aotl lawful owner of all right, title and inter@stand to
every claim and every other matter which it reledserein, and that it has not heretofore assigné@uwasferred, or




purported to assign or transfer, to any persom €r entity any claims or other matters hereinaséel. Borrower shall indemnify Bank, defenc
and hold it harmless from and against all claimselaupon or arising in connection with prior assignts or purported assignments or tran
of any claims or matters released herein.

9. Integration . This Agreement and the Loan Documents reprabkergntire agreement about this subject matter and
supersede prior negotiations or agreements. Al pgreements, understandings, representationsamies, and negotiations between the
parties about the subject matter of this Agreeraedtthe Loan Documents merge into this Agreemethttaa Loan Documents

10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any numbeoofiterparts and all of such counterparts takenhege
shall be deemed to constitute one and the sanrernmsit.

11. Conditions to Effectiveness The parties agree that the forbearance obligatid Bank herein shall be effective upon the
satisfaction of each of the following conditiongpedent, each in form and substance satisfactdgié, on or prior to March 27, 2013 (the
date of the satisfaction of such conditions prenedeferred to herein as the “Forbearance Effeddiate”) (a) the due execution and delivery tc
Bank of this Agreement by each party hereto and®isjower’s payment of a forbearance fee in an amount equl®,000 (which fee shall
fully earned by Bank upon the execution and dejivarthis Agreement by the parties hereto).

12. Miscellaneous.

12.1 This Agreement shall constitute a Loan Documenturite Loan Agreement; the failure to comply wiik t
covenants contained herein shall constitute an EafeDefault under the Loan Agreement; and all gdafions included in this Agreement
(including, without limitation, all obligations fdhe payment of principal, interest, fees, and oédmeounts and expenses) shall constitute
obligations under the Loan Agreement and securdtid{ollateral.

12.2 Each provision of this Agreement is severable fexary other provision in determining the enforcégbof any
provision.

13. Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligationhefparties hereto shall be governed by and catiru
accordance with the laws of the State of Califarnia

[Signature page follows.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement tlullyeexecuted and delivered as of the date firgten

above.

BANK BORROWER

Silicon Valley Bank Netlist, Inc.

By: /sl Brian Lowry By: /s/ Gail Sasak
Name: Brian Lowry Name: Gail Sasak

Title:  Relationship Manage Title:  Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincRegistration Statements Nos. 333-139435, 3#3-41, 333-151644, 333-161832, 333-
161834, 333-164261, 333-165916, 333-168330 andl33846 on Form S-8 and 333-164290 and 333-1771Fon S-3 of our report dated
March 29, 2013, relating to the consolidated finalhstatements of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiariggearing in this Annual Report on Form KO-
of Netlist, Inc. for the year ended December 29,20

/s/ KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 29, 2013
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrarm 10K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012 dfidtelnc., a Delaware corporati
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineliéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tiegiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregpagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémitth quarter in the case of an annual report) lha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Registrant's other certifyinfjaer and | have disclosed, based on our most temetuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétaathmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize apebrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the
Registrant's internal control over financial repugt

March 29, 2013 /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairma

the Board (Principal Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Sasaki, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrarm 10K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012 dfidtelnc., a Delaware corporati
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineliéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tiegiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregpagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémitth quarter in the case of an annual report) lha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Registrant's other certifyinfjaer and | have disclosed, based on our most temetuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétaathmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize apebrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the
Registrant's internal control over financial repugt

March 29, 2013 /s/ GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




QuickLinks
EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0-K of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation éthist") for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2012, as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on March 29, 2013 (the "Ré&p&hun K. Hong, president, chief
executive officer and chairman of the board of Ngthnd Gail Sasaki, vice president and chiefrfaial officer of Netlist, each hereby certifi
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @22@hat, to his or her knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with theyuegrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Retpairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of operations

of Netlist.
March 29, 2013 /s/ CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairma
the Board (Principal Executive Office
March 29, 2013 /sl GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1356 ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002



